IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

NATALIE M GRIDER, M D. and
KUTZTOMN FAM LY MEDI CI NE, P.C.,

Plaintiffs

V.

KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN

CENTRAL, I NC.,
H GHVARK, | NC.,
JOHN S. BROUSE,

CAPI TAL BLUE CRGCSS,

JAMES M MEAD and
JOSEPH PFI STER,

Def endant s

Gvil Action
No. 2001- CVv- 05641

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

ORDER

NOW this 20'" day of Decenmber, 2006, upon

consi deration of the follow ng subni ssions:

1. Plaintiffs’ Anmended Mtion for dass Certification,
filed Decenber 12, 2005; together wth:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Def endants’ Joint Answer to Plaintiffs’
Anended Mbtion for Cass Certification, which
answer was filed on behalf of all defendants
on January 10, 2006;

Notice of Supplenmental Authority filed by
def endant H ghmark, Inc. on Septenber 18,
2006;

Plaintiff’s List of Cass Legal and Fact ual
| ssues under Fed. R Giv.P. 23(c)(1)(B) and
Wachtel v. Guardian Life Ins. Co.

453 F.3d 179 (3d G r. 2006), which list was
filed Cctober 5, 2006;

Plaintiffs’ List of O ass Defenses under
Fed. R G v.P. 23(c)(1)(B) and Wachtel v
Guardi an Life Ins. Co., 453 F.3d 179

(3d Cr. 2006), which list was filed

Cct ober 5, 2006;



(e) Defendants’ Joint Response to Plaintiffs’
List of dass dains, |ssues and Defenses,
whi ch response was filed on behalf of al
def endants on COctober 20, 2006; and

(f) Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Joint
Response to Plaintiffs’ List of Cass Cd ains,
| ssues and Defenses, which reply was filed
Cct ober 30, 2006;
upon consideration of the briefs of the parties; after hearing
conducted on March 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10, 2006; and for the reasons

articulated in the acconpanying Opi ni on,

IT IS ORDERED that Plaintiffs' Anended Mdtion for d ass

Certification is granted in part and denied in part.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that Counts I,* I112 and |\V® of

plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint are certified as class actions
pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of G vil
Pr ocedur e.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiffs’ notion for class

certification of Count V of their Amended Conplaint is denied.*

1 Count | of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl aint alleges conspiracy to
conmit RICO violations pursuant to 18 U . S.C. § 1962(d) in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

2 Count 111 of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint alleges violation of
section 1962(c) of the Racketeer |nfluenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(“RICO), 18 U.S.C. 88 1961-1968.

3 Count IV of plaintiffs’ Anended Conplaint alleges violation of the
pronpt - paynent provi sion of Pennsylvania's Quality Health Care Accountability
and Protection Act, Act of May 17, 1921, P.L. 682, No. 284, 88 2101-2193, as
amended, 40 P.S. 8§ 991.2101 to 991. 2193.

4 Count V of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl aint alleges breach of
contract agai nst defendant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.



IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED that a class is certified for the

period from January 1, 1996 through and including Cctober 5, 2001
on behalf of the foll ow ng subcl asses:

All nmedical service providers in connection with
medi cal services rendered to patients insured by defendant
Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. who during the period
January 1, 1996 through Cctober 5, 2001:

(1) submitted clains for reinbursement on a fee-
for-service basis for covered services which clains were denied
or reduced through the application of automated edits in the
cl ai ms processing software used by defendants to process those
cl ai ms; and/ or

(2) received less in capitation paynents than the
provi der was entitled through the use and application of
aut omat ed systens to “shave” such paynents in the manner all eged
in plaintiff’s Anmended Conplaint filed Cctober 6, 2003.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED that the followi ng factual issues

are certified for class treatnent:
(1) common aut omat ed bundl i ng practices;
(2) common aut omat ed downcodi ng practi ces;

(3) a common failure to pay clean clainms within the
applicable statutory tine period;

(4) a common failure to tinely place patients on
capitation rolls;

(5) a common failure to pay appropriate capitation or
fee-for-service on guest nenbers;

(6) common proof of a conspiracy to defraud in
vi ol ation of RICQ

(7) a common failure to recognize CPT prescribed
nodi fi ers;

(8) whether defendants inproperly suspended clains to
del ay or deny paynent;



(9) whether defendants failed to pay for nedically
necessary covered services; and

(10) whether defendants followed a “pursue and pay” or
a “pay and pursue” strategy for the paynent of clains under the
Pennsyl vani a pronpt paynent statute.®

|T IS FURTHER ORDERED that the follow ng | egal issues®

are certified for class treatnent:
(1) whether defendants commtted mail or wire fraud;

(2) whet her defendants violated the Pennsyl vani a pronpt
paynent statute’; and

(3) whet her defendants conspired in violation of R CO

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that the foll ow ng common

defenses are certified for class treatnent:

(1) whether the class clains are barred by discl osures
contained in Keystone’'s common standard form fill-in-the-blanks
Primary Care Physician Provider Contract, specialist Consulting
Agreenent or Keystone’s Adm nistrative Manual (i ncluding updates
and revisions), in effect during the class period;

(2) whether the class clains are barred by discl osures
contained in the H ghmark/Pennsyl vania Bl ue Shield (“PBS")
Procedural Term nol ogy Manuals distributed by H ghmark to its
net wor k of physicians during the class period;

(3) whether the class clainms are barred by disclosures
contained in the H ghmark/ PBS “Policy Review & News” distributed
by H ghmark to its network of physicians during the class period;

5 See footnote 3, above.

6 VWi | e each of these issues are based, in part, upon factua

det erm nati ons, whether those factual allegations, if proven, constitute mail
fraud, wire fraud, violation of the Pennsylvania pronpt paynent statute,
conspiracy, and RICO violations are anong the ultimate |egal conclusions for
determination in this case.

7 See footnote 3, above.

8 See footnotes 1 and 2, above.
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(4) whether the class clains are barred by the
Statenents of Remittance (“SORs”) sent to providers with their
rei mbur senent checks;

(5) whet her endorsenents on the SORs to the effect that
acceptance of the “allowed anmount” (that is, defendants’ fee
schedul e anbunt) constituted a rel ease and satisfaction of the
class’ clains for reinbursenent for nedical services even when
such al |l oned anobunt was not pai d;

(6) whether the class clainms are barred because the
injuries and damages of the class nenbers were caused by the
conduct of others, not defendants;

(7) whether the class clains are barred by the
applicable statute of limtations; and

(8) whether the class clains are barred because of the
absence of any material m srepresentations, m sl eading
di scl osures or om ssions by defendants in their standard form
Primary Care Physician Provider Contract and speciali st
Consul ti ng Agreenent.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED t hat pursuant to Rule 23(g) of

the Federal Rules of G vil Procedure Kenneth A. Jacobsen,
Esquire, Louis C. Bechtle, Esquire, Francis J. Farina, Esquire
and Joseph A. O Keefe, Esquire are each appointed class counsel.

T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiff Natalie M Gider,

M D., both in her individual capacity and as President of
plaintiff Kutztown Famly Medicine, P.C., is approved as class
representative.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED t hat on or before January 19,

2007 defendant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc., shall provide

plaintiffs’ counsel with the nane and | ast known address of



every physician having a contract with Keystone during the class
peri od.

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED t hat on or before January 26

2007 cl ass counsel shall present to counsel for defendants and
t he undersi gned a proposed class notice® and a specific proposal
for service of the class notice upon all class nenbers in
accordance wth the requirenments of Rule 23(c)(2)(B) of the
Federal Rules of Cvil Procedure.

I T 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat def endants shall have unti

on or before February 6, 2007 to object to plaintiffs’ proposed
cl ass notice and service proposal .

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED that a Rule 16 Status Conference

shal |l be conducted on the record by the undersigned on

February 12, 2007 at 9:30 o’clock a.m in a courtroomto be
desi gnated at the Janes AL Byrne United States Courthouse,

601 Market Street, Philadel phia, Pennsylvania, or at such other
time, place and | ocation designated by the undersigned, to
resol ve any objections to plaintiffs’ proposed class notice and
service proposal, and to approve the class notice.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat on or before March 15, 2007

plaintiffs shall serve the approved class notice upon all class

9 The official comentary to Fed. R Civ.P. 23 notes that: “The
Federal Judicial Center has created illustrative clear-notice forms that
provide a hel pful starting point for actions sinmlar to those described in the
forms.” Fed.R Civ.P. 23 Advisory Committee Notes 2003.
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menbers in the manner approved by the undersigned pursuant to
Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 23(c)(2)(B)

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat on or before March 30, 2007

plaintiffs shall file a copy of the Notice provided to class
menbers and a certification by class counsel detailing the nmethod
of service, identifying those nenbers to whom i ndividual notice
was provided, the reasons why any nenbers of the class could not
be identified through reasonable effort, and the proposed nethod
by which notice will be provided to nenbers who coul d not be
identified through reasonable effort.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED that the Cerk of Court is

directed to renove this matter fromthe civil suspense docket.
BY THE COURT:
[s/ JANMES KNOLL GARDNER

James Knol | Gardner
United States District Judgel N THE
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UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

NATALIE M GRIDER, M D. and
KUTZTOMN FAM LY MEDI CI NE, P.C.,

Plaintiffs

V.

KEYSTONE HEALTH PLAN

CENTRAL, I NC.,
H GHVARK, | NC.,
JOHN S. BROUSE,

CAPI TAL BLUE CRGCSS,

JAVES M MEAD and
JOSEPH PFI STER,

Def endant s

APPEARANCES:

KENNETH A. JACOBSEN, ESQUI RE

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

LOU S C. BECHTLE, ESQUI RE

FRANCI S J.

JOHN S. SUMMERS, ESQUI RE
DANI EL SEGAL, ESQUI RE

JOHN S. STAPLETON, ESQUI RE

FARI NA, ESQUI RE
JOSEPH A. O KEEFE, ESQUI RE
On behal f of Plaintiffs

GCvil Action
No. 2001- CVv- 05641

On behal f of Defendants Keystone Health Pl an
Central, Inc., and Joseph Pfister

DANI EL B. HUYETT, ESQUI RE

JEFFREY B. BUKOWEKI ,
On behal f of Defendants Capital

and Janes M Mead

M CHAEL L. MARTI NEZ, ESQUI RE

ESQUI RE

KATHLEEN TAYLOR SOOY, ESQUI RE
On behal f of Defendants Keystone Health Pl an

Central, Inc., Capital

and Janes M Mead

SANDRA A. G RI FALCO, ESQUI RE

MARY J.

HACKETT, ESQUI RE

V-

Bl ue Cross,

Bl ue Cross

Joseph Pfister



On behal f of Defendants
H ghmark, Inc. and John S. Brouse

* * *

OP1 NI ON

JAVES KNOLL GARDNER
United States District Judge

This matter is before the court on Plaintiffs Anmended
Motion for Class Certification filed Decenmber 12, 2005.

Def endants’ Joint Answer to Plaintiffs’ Anended Mdtion for O ass
Certification was filed January 10, 2006. A class certification
heari ng was conducted by the undersigned on March 6, 7, 8, 9 and
10, 2006. Plaintiffs presented the testinony of five w tnesses'®
and 161 exhibits. Defendants presented the testinony of two

w t nesses® and 191 exhibits.

At the conclusion of the hearing, we took the matter
under advisenment. Thereafter, we reviewed the transcript of the
hearing testinmony. W also reviewed the vol um nous paper
exhi bits consisting of nore than 15 |inear feet and contai ni ng

approxi mately 45,625 pages. In addition, we reviewed the

10 Plaintiffs’ witnesses were defendant Joseph M Pfister, the forner
Chi ef Executive O ficer of defendant Keystone; Ruth Jurkiew cz, Mnager of
Speci al Process Clains and Clains Qperations at defendant Keystone; N na E
Bol dosser, an enployee in the Electronic Data Interface Departnent of Am sys
Synertech Health System Solutions, LLC, Dr. Natalie M Grider, the individua
plaintiff and proposed cl ass representative; and Susan Heffner, the Ofice
Manager at plaintiff Kutztown Family Medicine.

1 Def endants’ witnesses were M Lindsey Gunn, the Director of
Medi cal Payment and Policy Division of defendant H ghmark; and Steven M
W ggi ns, who was qualified as an expert in the field of econom cs and
econonetri cs.
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extensive contents of five conpact conputer discs containing
approximately 72,520 nore pages of exhibits, for a total of
approxi mately 118, 145 pages of exhibits.

Based upon our review of the testinony and exhibits,
and for the follow ng reasons, we grant in part and deny in part
Plaintiffs’ Amended Mdtion for Cass Certification.
Specifically, we grant plaintiffs’ notion for class certification
agai nst all defendants on Count | of plaintiffs’ Amended
Conpl aint all eging conspiracy to conmt RICO? violations
pursuant to 18 U S.C. 8§ 1962(d) in violation of 18 U S.C. §
1962(c); Count 11l of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint alleging
violation of RICO under 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1962(c); and Count |V of
plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint alleging violation of the pronpt-
paynment provision of Pennsylvania’s Quality Health Care
Accountability and Protection Act'® because we concl ude that
plaintiffs have satisfied all the prerequisites of class
certification pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Cvil
Procedure regarding those counts.

We deny plaintiffs’ notion for class certification on
Count V of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl aint alleging breach of

contract agai nst defendant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.

12 Racket eer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act,
18 U.S.C. 88 1961-1968.

13 Act of May 17, 1921, P.L. 682, No. 284, 8§ 2101-2193, as anended,
40 P.S. §§ 991.2101 to 991.2193.



because we conclude that individual issues will predom nate over
any comon issues of |aw and fact regarding plaintiffs’ breach of
contract clains.

JURI SDI CT1 ON

Jurisdiction is based upon federal question
jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1441(b). The
court has supplenental jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ pendent
state law clains. See 28 U S.C. 8§ 1367. Venue is proper
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1391(b) because a substantial nunber of
the events giving rise to plaintiffs’ clains allegedly occurred
inthis judicial district.

PARTI ES

Plaintiff Natalie M Gider, MD. is a famly
practitioner and President of plaintiff Kutztown Fam |y Medicine,
P.C (“Kutztown”). Plaintiffs and their affiliates provide
medi cal services to about 4,000 patients who are insured by
def endant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc. (“Keystone”).

Keystone is a Health Mai ntenance Organization (“HVOD)
organi zed under the Pennsyl vani a Heal th Mai nt enance O gani zati on
Act . Defendant Joseph Pfister is the forner Chief Executive
O ficer of Keystone.

Def endant H ghmark, Inc., fornmerly known as

Pennsyl vania Blue Shield (“PBS’), is an insurance conpany which

14 Act of December 29, 1972, P.L. 1701, No. 364, 8§ 1-17, as amended,
40 P.S. 8§ 1551-1567.
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during the entire class period (January 1, 1996 through
Cctober 5, 2001) was a 50% owner of Keystone. Defendant John S.
Brouse is the former Chief Executive Oficer of H ghmark.

Def endant Capital Blue Cross (“Capital”) is an
i nsurance conpany which during the entire class period was a 50%
owner of Keystone. Defendant Janes M Mead is the fornmer Chief
Executive Oficer of Capital. In 2003 Capital purchased
H ghmark’s ownership interest in Keystone. Keystone is now a
subsidiary of Capital

Plaintiffs contend that during the proposed cl ass
peri od defendants Capital and H ghmark directed and controlled
t he operations of Keystone and received all of its profits.
Plaintiffs allege that defendants and various non-parties
together formwhat is styled as the “Managed Care Enterprise”, an
entity which allegedly operates to defraud plaintiffs and the
proposed cl ass through a variety of illegal nmethods. Defendants
deny those allegations.

PROCEDURAL HI STORY

On Cctober 5, 2001 plaintiffs filed their Conplaint in
the Court of Common Pl eas of Phil adel phia County. Defendants

removed the action to this court on Novenmber 7, 2001.'® By Oder

15 This action was originally assigned to our coll eague United States

District Judge Anita B. Brody. The case was transferred fromthe docket of
District Judge Brody to the docket of Senior District Judge Thomas N. O Neill,
Jr., on Novenber 16, 2001 and fromthe docket of Senior Judge O Neill to the
under si gned on Decenber 19, 2002.
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and Qpi nion of the undersigned dated Septenber 18, 2003, we
granted in part and denied in part Defendants’ Mtion to Dism sSs,
whi ch notion was filed January 23, 2002.

Specifically, we denied defendants’ notion to dism ss

based upon Pegramv. Herdrich', the MCarran-Ferguson Act!" and

the state-action-immunity doctrine.® Defendants’ notion to

dism ss Count | of plaintiffs’ Conplaint alleging conspiracy to
commt RICO violations was denied. Defendants’ notion to dism ss
Count 11 alleging aiding and abetting Rl CO viol ati ons was
granted. Defendants’ notion to dismss Count |1l alleging
illegal investnent of racketeering proceeds under 18 U. S. C

8§ 1962(a) was granted without prejudice to file an anended
conpl ai nt.

I n addi tion, defendants’ notion to dism ss Count |V was
granted in part and denied in part relating to all egations of
fraud, extortion, bribery and violations of the Travel Act?'® and
Hobbs Act.?° Defendants’ notion to disnmss Count V alleging a
viol ation of the Pennsylvania Quality Health Care Accountability
and Protection Act was denied. Defendants’ notion to dismss

Count VI alleging violation of a duty of good faith and fair

16 530 U.S. 211, 120 S.Ct. 2143, 147 L.Ed.2d 164 (2000).
17 15 U.S.C. § 1012.
18 See Parker v. Brown, 317 U.S. 341, 63 S.Ct. 307, 87 L.Ed. 315 (1943).

19 18 U.S.C. § 1952.
20 18 U.S.C. § 1951.
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dealing was granted. 1In all other respects, Defendants’ Mbdtion
to Dismiss was denied. #

On Cctober 6, 2003 plaintiffs filed their Anended
Compl aint. On Novenber 14, 2003 Defendants’ Mtion to D smss
and/or Strike Certain Portions of the Arended Conpl ai nt was
filed.

On Decenber 30, 2003 a Status Conference was hel d by
t he undersi gned pursuant to Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 16.

At that conference the court attenpted, al beit unsuccessfully, to
attai n consensus between counsel for the parties regarding an
appropriate schedule for the conpletion of discovery, dispositive
notions and trial. On January 14, 2004, a conprehensive Rule 16
Status Conference Order was entered by the undersigned

menori alizing the decisions nade at the status conference held
Decenber 30, 2003.

Fromlate 2003 until m d-2005, a plethora of notions
were filed both with this court and with United States Magi strate
Judge Arnold C. Rapoport. The January 2, 2003 Standi ng Order of
t he undersi gned provides that all discovery disputes which cannot

be am cably resol ved shall be brought to the attention of

21 In their Arended Conplaint, plaintiffs changed the nunbering of
some of the counts which were also contained in the original Conplaint. This
was necessary to acconmodate our dism ssal of Counts Il and VI fromthe
original Conplaint and plaintiffs’ inclusion of a new count nunbered V in the
Amended Conpl ai nt.
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Magi st rate Judge Rapoport “by letter or other informal means”. 2
Moreover, the Standing Order provides that: “Any party contendi ng
that the Order of the Magistrate Judge is clearly erroneous or
contrary to law nmay file a Petition to Reconsider, together with
a proposed Order, directed to the undersigned pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(A."

On March 12, 2004 defendants H ghmark and Capital filed
notice with the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation
(“MDL”) that the wthin action nmay be a “tag-along” action to In

re Managed Care Litigation, MDL No. 1334 pending before United

States District Judge Federico A. Moreno in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida. On March
17, 2004 defendants Capital and H ghnmark sought a stay of al
proceedings in this court pending a decision by the MDL panel.
By Order dated May 5, 2004 we deni ed defendants’ notion for

stay. 2

22 We note that because of the number of disputes and aninosity
bet ween the parties, Magistrate Judge Rapoport eventually required the parties
to file formal nmotions rather than utilize his usual |ess formal dispute
resol uti on procedures.

23 Def endant s have vacillated on the applicability of the In re
Managed Care Litigation throughout this case. Defendants specifically argued
t hat Judge Mdireno’s decision on the nmotion to dismiss was inapplicable to this
litigation even though the issues of both cases were virtually identical. See
135 F. Supp. 2d 1253 (S.D.Fla. 2001) However, after our Septenber 2003 deci sion
on Defendants’ Mdtion to Disniss, defendants changed course and argued to the
MDL Panel that this case should be included in that litigation.

Specifically, in the letter seeking to add this action to the MDL
case, current counsel for defendants Capital and H ghmark stated: “The Gider
Amended Conpl ai nt denonstrates that these actions raise conmon issues of

(Footnote 14 continued):
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On April 26, 2004, partly in response to the filing of
i nnuner abl e notions and the sl ow pace of discovery, we extended
the deadlines set in our January 14, 2004 Rule 16 Status
Conference Order. Moreover, on August 5, 2004, because of the
inability of the parties to resolve any of their discovery
di sputes without court intervention, we placed this matter into
civil suspense but required the parties to continue the discovery
process.

Fromlate 2004 into the summer of 2005 the parties
continued their incessant notion practice and exhibited a
conplete inability to agree on even the nost basic matters. The
| evel of acrinony and |itigiousness exhibited by counsel in this
matter was unprecedented in the twenty-five years of judicial
experi ence of the undersigned.

In response to plaintiffs’ request for appointnent of a

speci al master and over defendants’ objection, we appointed

(Continuation of footnote 14):

fact.” (See Letter from Tracy A. Roman, Esquire, dated March 12, 2004 to

M chael J. Beck, Cerk, Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation, attached
as Exhibit Ato the Motion of Defendants Capital Blue Cross and H ghmark Inc.
for a Stay of Al Proceedings.)

Finally, regarding the current notion for class certification
def endants argue that the decisions of Judge Mdreno and the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Crcuit regarding certification of certain
clains in the MDL Managed Care Litigation are neither applicable to, nor
per suasi ve on, some issues involved in this matter (certification of clains
brought under RI CO and the applicable pronpt pay statute), but are applicable
and persuasi ve concerning another issue (breach of contract clainj.
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Karol yn Vreel and Bl une, Esquire,? as Special Discovery Mster by
Order dated August 25, 2005, pursuant to the provisions of
Rul e 53 of the Federal Rules of G vil Procedure.

The next day, on August 26, 2005 we entered an Order
granting in part, and denying in part, Defendants’ Mdtion to
Dismss and/or Strike Certain Portions of the Amended Conpl aint.
Specifically, we granted defendants’ notion to dismss al
all egations of RICO violations in Counts | and Il of the Anended
Conpl ai nt based upon 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a).

Mor eover, we granted defendants’ notion to dism ss
Count V (breach of contract) of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl ai nt
agai nst defendants Capital Blue Cross, H ghmark Inc., John S
Brouse, James M Mead and Joseph Pfister. (Count V remains
agai nst def endant Keystone only.) W further granted defendants’

nmotion to dismss plaintiffs’ claimfor punitive damages from

24 Attorney Blume is known to the court as an attorney of over 29

years experience. She received a Bachelor of Arts degree with honors in
political science in 1974 from Skidnore College and a Juris Doctorate degree
fromVillanova University School of Law in 1977.

Attorney Blume spent the first 15 years of her career in a
private, general |aw practice handling a broad spectrum of clainms and issues
for individual, business and non-profit organization clients. From 1992
t hrough 2001 she served as Senior Law Clerk to United States Magistrate Judge
Arnold C. Rapoport handling a wide variety of civil and crimnal matters
i nvol ving both state and federal |law. Thereafter, from 2001 until 2004
Attorney Blume served as in-house counsel for PPL Corporation. Formerly she
served as President of the Bar Association of Lehigh County. Attorney Blune
is the founder and owner of Conflict Resolution Services |located in Allentown,
Pennsyl vania. Currently, she provides nediation and arbitrati on services at
all stages of conflict for businesses and other ventures.

Attorney Blunme’s know edge and experience nade her uniquely

qualified to serve as Special Discovery Master in this matter considering the
contentiousness exhibited by the parties in the discovery process.
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Counts I, 11l and V of plaintiffs’ Anmended Conpl ai nt
and struck the request for punitive damages fromthe Anended
Conpl ai nt .

Finally, we granted defendants notion to strike
paragraphs 14(f), 53(f), 53(h), 124 (as it relates to allegations
regarding 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1962(b)) and paragraphs 2(j), (m, (o),
(w, (v), (w and (x) fromthe prayer for relief contained in
Count 111 of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint. W denied
defendants’ notion to dismss or strike in all other respects.

On Septenber 12, 2005 all defendants answered
plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl aint and asserted affirmative defenses
to plaintiffs’ clains. Defendant Keystone also asserted a
counterclaimfor recoupnent or set-off.

By Order dated and fil ed Septenber 26, 2005 we set
deadl i nes for class discovery, ?® expert reports, and expert
depositions regarding class discovery; plaintiffs’ deadline for
filing an anmended notion for class certification; defendants’
deadline for a response to plaintiffs’ notion for class

certification; a hearing date for plaintiffs’ notion for class

25 W note that while February 1, 2006 was the deadline established
by the court for the conpletion of class discovery in this matter, class
di scovery continued, with the constant participation and oversi ght of Specia
Di scovery Master Blunme. Docunents offered and received into evidence at the
class certification hearings included those produced on the evening of Friday,
March 3, 2006 when defense counsel forwarded to plaintiffs’ counsel conputer
di sks contai ni ng thousands of pages of information regarding clains
subm ssions. W further note that there are ongoi ng di sputes on both sides
concerning the producti on of docunents which were unresolved at the tinme of
the class certification hearing and continue to be unresolved as of the date
of this Opinion.

-XViii-



certification;? deadlines for trial expert reports and
depositions; a dispositive notion deadline; a deadline for
notions in limne;, and a trial date.

On February 3, 2006 we entered an Order specifically
advising the parties how the class certification hearings would
be conducted, set deadlines for anong other things, the filing of
potential exhibits, witness lists, proposed findings of fact and
conclusions of law prior to the hearing and set tine limts for
the presentation of evidence.?

On March 6-10, 2006 we conducted the class
certification hearing in this mtter. On March 10, 2006, the
record was cl osed, closing argunents were heard by the court and
the matter was taken under advi senent.

On Septenber 18, 2006 defendant Hi ghmark filed its

Noti ce of Supplenmental Authority to bring three subsequent

26 In our September 26, 2005 scheduling Order, we directed the
parties to subnmit the majority of any record in support of, or in opposition
to, plaintiffs’ nmotion for class certification by way of affidavit, deposition
or adm ssion except for those matters which required credibility
det erm nati ons by the undersigned or involved conpl ex expert testinony.
Furthernore, we scheduled the entire week of March 6-10, 2006 for the
presentation of any evidence and to conduct closing arguments.

21 The class certification hearing was conducted March 6, 7, 8, 9 and

10, 2006. Plaintiffs were allotted 10 hours of hearing tinme to conduct the
direct exam nation of plaintiffs’ wi tnesses, the cross-exani nation of
defendants’ witnesses, the proffer of plaintiffs’ exhibits, and the
articulation of all objections to defendants’ testinony and exhibits.

Simlarly, all defendants collectively shared 10 hours of hearing
tinme to conduct the direct examination of defendants’ w tnesses, the cross-
exam nation of plaintiffs’ wi tnesses, the proffer of defendants’ exhibits, and
the articulation of all objections to plaintiffs' testinobny and exhibits. At
the hearing, neither plaintiffs, nor defendants, utilized all of the tinme
allotted by the court under this procedure.
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decisions to the attention of the court. Included were two
recent decisions of the United States Court of Appeals for the

Third CGrcuit in Beck v. Maxinus, Inc., 457 F.3d 291 (3d Gr

2006) and Wachtel v. Guardian Life Insurance Co. of Anerica,

453 F.3d 179 (3d Cir. 2006).

On Cctober 2, 2006 we conducted a Rule 16 conference on
the record to discuss the applicability of the Beck and Wacht el
cases, if any, to this action. During the conference, the
parties disagreed as to the applicability of these new deci sions
to Plaintiff’s Arended Motion for Class Certification, but agreed
that these decisions did not require reopening the record.

At the conclusion of the conference, the undersigned
directed plaintiffs to file a list of all the clainms, issues and
def enses which they contend are appropriate for class treatnent
or to which they specifically seek class certification.?® In
addition, we permtted the parties to file additional briefs
after the filing of plaintiffs’ list of all clainms, issues and

def enses. 2°

28 On Cctober 5, 2006 pursuant to our directive Plaintiff's List of
Cl ass Legal and Factual |ssues under Fed.R Civ.P. 23(c)(1)(B) and Wachtel v.
Guardian Life Ins. Co., 453 F.3d 179 (3d Cr. 2006) (“Comon |Issue List”) and
Plaintiffs’ List of O ass Defenses under Fed.R Civ.P. 23(c)(1)(B) and
Wachtel v. Guardian Life Ins. Co., 453 F.3d 179 (3d Cr. 2006) (“Common Defense
List”) were both fil ed.

29 On COctober 20, 2006 Defendants’ Joint Response to Plaintiffs’ List
of Class O ainms, Issues and Defenses was filed. On October 30, 2006
Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Joint Response to Plaintiffs List of O ass
Cl ains, |ssues and Defenses was fil ed.
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CONTENTI ONS OF THE PARTI ES

Plaintiffs’ Contentions

Plaintiffs seek to certify this action as a cl ass
action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Cvil
Procedure. Plaintiffs’ central assertion is that when
contracting with plaintiffs, defendants intentionally
m srepresented, and failed to disclose, internal HMO policies and
practices that were designed to systematically reduce, deny, and
del ay rei mbursenent paynents to plaintiffs and their business.

Plaintiffs entered into an HMO physician agreenent with
def endant Keystone in Decenber 1998 to provide nedical services
to the HMO s nenbers. 1In addition to a conplex bonus system the
agreenent provides for two basic nethods by which plaintiffs are
paid for rendering nmedical services: (1) capitation® and
(2) fee-for-service.

Plaintiffs allege a variety of ways in which defendants
used the mail and wires to defraud plaintiffs by wongfully
del ayi ng and denyi ng conpensati on due under both nethods of
paynent. Plaintiffs also assert that the HMO physician agreenent
contains a nunber of m srepresentations and material om ssions.
Specifically, plaintiffs allege that defendants (1) “shave”

capitation paynents by purposefully under-reporting the nunber of

30 A “capitation” is “an annual fee paid a doctor or nedical group

for each patient enrolled under a health plan.” Wbster’s Third New
International Dictionary 332 (1968).
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patients enrolled in plaintiffs’ practice group; and (2) defraud
plaintiffs of fees for nedical services rendered by wongfully
mani pul ati ng CPT* codes to decrease the anount of
rei nbursenents

In their Amended Conplaint, plaintiffs also assert a
nunmber of RICO clains prem sed on extortion in violation of the
Hobbs Act, 3 bribery,* and violations of the Travel Act.3
However, plaintiffs do not seek class certification on those
I Ssues.

Plaintiffs assert state | aw causes of action alleging
vi ol ations of the pronpt-paynent provision of Pennsylvania s
Quality Health Care Accountability and Protection Act, and
breach of contract agai nst defendant Keystone only. Plaintiffs
seek class certification on these state | aw cl ai ns.

Plaintiffs seek certification for a class period from
January 1, 1996 until COctober 5, 2001 for the followng clains in
plaintiffs’ Anmended Conplaint: (1) Count I|--conspiracy to conmt
RI CO viol ations pursuant to 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1962(d) in violation of

18 U.S.C. §8 1962(c); (2) Count Ill--violation of R CO under

st CPT codes refer to the standardized American Medi cal Association
Current Procedural Term nol ogy code set. The CPT codes were devel oped by the
associ ation to describe the nedical services and procedures performed for the
i nsured patient.

32 18 U.S.C. § 1951.
33 18 U.S.C. § 1954.
34 18 U.S.C. § 1952.
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18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962(c); (3) Count IV-- violation of 40 P.S.
8§ 991. 2166 (Pennsylvania pronpt paynent statute, also known and
referred to as Act 68); (4) Count V--breach of contract against
def endant Keystone.
Plaintiffs seek class certification for this period on
behal f of the follow ng proposed subcl asses:
Al'l providers who:
1. submtted clains for reinbursenent
on a fee-for-service basis for covered
services which clains were denied or reduced
t hrough the application of automated edits in
the clains processing software used by
defendants to process those clainms; and/or
2. received less in capitation paynents
than the provider was entitled through the
use and application of autonmated systens to
“shave” such paynents in the manner all eged
in plaintiff’s Anmended Conpl aint and in the
acconpanyi ng Menorandum of Law.
Plaintiffs’ Amended Motion for Cass Certification at page 1
Concerning their RICO clains, plaintiffs only seek
certification of a class based upon the RICO predi cate acts of
mail and wire fraud (18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343). Plaintiffs do
not seek certification of a class based upon other RI CO predicate
acts of violations of the Hobbs Act (18 U.S.C. § 1951), the
Travel Act (18 U S.C. § 1952), interference with an enpl oyee
benefit plan (18 U.S.C. 8 1954) or other clains alleged in
plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint. Plaintiffs assert that they have

focused their notion for class certification specifically and
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narromy on the identical clains certified for class treatnent by
ot her courts throughout the country, that is clains of
“bundl i ng”, *“downcodi ng” and capitation “shaving”.

Conmmon | ssues

As not ed above, and pursuant to our Cctober 2, 2006
directive, Plaintiffs’ Common |Issue List was filed on Cctober 5,
2006. In that regard, plaintiffs seek certification of the
follow ng 22 factual and | egal issues:

1. Wether defendants systematically
bundl ed and downcoded clains and failed to
recogni ze nodifiers through secret “edits” in
their clains processing systens and software
as alleged in plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl ai nt
and presented at the class hearing.

2. \Wet her defendants foll owed and
applied the standardi zed Anerican Mdi cal
Associ ation (“AVA’) Current Procedural
Term nol ogy (“CPT”) code set in processing
the class’ cl ains.

3. \Wether the HCFA Form 1500 required
by defendants to be used by nenbers of the
physician class in filing clains required the
use of CPT codes.

4. \Wether the virtually identical
provisions in the Primary Care Physician
Provi der Contract and the speciali st
Consul ti ng Agreenent which required Keystone
to pay providers for the “applicable
procedure” performed by the provider required
Keystone to pay for the CPT codes reported
and billed by the provider, not as bundl ed
and downcoded by defendants through secret
edits in their clains processing system

5. \Whet her defendants agreed to pay,
t hrough contract or otherw se, for nedically
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necessary “covered services” and “applicable
procedures” based on the AMA's CPT code set.

6. Wet her defendants’ policies and
practices on “integral” services,
“i ndependent” procedures, “nultiple surgical”
procedures and ot her devices used to bundle
and downcode cl ai ms, thereby denyi ng and
reduci ng rei nbursenents to providers, were
di scl osed in Keystone's standard form fill-
i n-the-blanks Primary Care Physician Provider
Contract and specialist Consulting Agreenent.

7. \Wet her defendants policies and
practices on “integral” services,
“i ndependent” procedures, “nultiple surgical”
procedures and ot her devices used to bundle
and downcode cl ai ms, thereby denyi ng and
reduci ng rei nbursenents to providers, were
di scl osed in Keystone’'s Administrative
Manual .

8. Wiet her defendants had a duty to
di scl ose in Keystone’s standard form fill-
i n-the-blanks Primary Care Physician Provider
Contract, specialist Consulting Agreenent and
Adm ni strative Manual their policies and
practices of bundling and downcodi ng provider
cl ai ms.

9. \Whether Statenents of Remttance
(“SORs”) sent to providers which excluded CPT
codes submtted with the original claimwere
fal se and m sl eading and contributed to the
fraud perpetrated on the providers.

10. \Whether the endorsenent on the SORs
whi ch stated that acceptance by the provider
of the “allowed amount” indicated on the SOR
(/.e., the amount set by Keystone under its
fees schedul es) rel eased the providers’
clai ns, when defendants not only did not pay
that “all owed anount” but, through their
bundl i ng practices, paid nothing whatsoever.

11. \Whet her Keystone’'s standardized

Primary Care Physician Provider Contract and
its Adm nistrative Manual in effect during
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the class period were vague or msleading in
descri bing the scope of services that were
“capitated.”

12. \Whet her Keystone omtted and
excluded its detailed Iist of capitated
services (by CPT code) fromits standard form
Primary Care Physician Provider Contract and
its Adm nistrative Manual, and inproperly
deni ed as “capitated” dozens of CPT codes
whi ch appeared on that I|ist.

13. Vet her defendants had a duty to
di scl ose Keystone's detailed |ist of
capitated services in Keystone’'s formPrimary
Care Physician Provider Contract and its
Adm ni strative Manual

14. \Met her def endants:

--“shaved” capitation paynents by
systematically transferring patients to
“guest nenbershi p” or other so-called “dumy”
accounts without notice to the provider or
any request by the nenber; and

--del ayed maki ng capitation
paynents to providers for newy enrolled
menbers.

15. \Whet her defendants systematically
“suspended” paynents while they pursued
coverage from other insurers under their
coordi nation of benefits (“COB") practices.?*®

16. Vet her defendants’ pursue and pay
practices viol ated Keystone’s standard
Primary Care Physician Provider Contract and
speci alist Consulting Agreenent, its
Adm ni strative Manual and Keystone’'s
Adm ni strative Services Agreenment with
Synertech, Inc., which required a “pay and

35 This practice is known as a “pursue and pay” practice.
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pursue”® policy for processing the class’
cl ai ns.

17. \Wether the provision of the
Adm ni strative Manual which defines a “clean
clainmi for Act 68 and ot her purposes as one
filed “on a HCFA 1500 form or
el ectronically”, requires defendants to
process clainms filed in such a nmanner and not
deviate fromthat definition

18. \Whet her defendants systematically
del ayed or denied reinbursenents for traum
and ot her high cost, expensive nedical
procedures in violation of Act 68 and
Keystone’ s standard form PCP Provi der
Contract and specialist Consulting Agreenent.

19. \Whet her defendants and third
parti es engaged in an “enterprise” and
concerted activity during the class period to
perpetrate the violations of |aw alleged in
plaintiff’s Anmended Conpl ai nt and presented
at the class hearing.

20. Wet her each individual and
corporate defendant was a nenber of the
“managed care enterprise” alleged in
plaintiffs’ Anmended Conpl aint and presented
at the class hearing.

21. \Wet her defendants used wire
communi cations and the mails to perpetrate
the violations of law alleged in plaintiffs’
Amended Conpl ai nt and presented at the class
heari ng.

22. \Wether plaintiffs’ clains or
desi gnated facts shall be deened to be
establ i shed under Rule 37(b)(2) of the
Federal Rules of Cvil Procedure.

36 A pay and pursue policy is a systemin which Keystone pays the

provider for the services rendered for nedical services to a patient and
follows up after payment to the provider with any clainms agai nst ot her

i nsurance conpani es which nay al so be responsible for all, or some portion, of
t he payment made to the provider
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Common_Def enses

In addition to the 22 factual and | egal issues
plaintiffs seek to have certified for class treatnent, and
pursuant to our Cctober 2, 2006 directive, plaintiffs filed their
Common Defense List on Cctober 5, 2006. Plaintiffs do not seek
certification of these common defenses. The 24 common def enses
rai sed by defendants as identified by plaintiffs include the
fol | ow ng:

1. The class clains are barred by
di scl osures contained in Keystone’s conmon
standard form fill-in-the-blanks Primary
Care Physician Provider Contract and
speci ali st Consulting Agreenent.

2. The class clains are barred by
di scl osures contained in Keystone’'s
Adm ni strative Manual (i ncluding updates and
revisions thereto) in effect during the class
peri od.

3. The class clains are barred by
di scl osures contained in the H ghmark/ PBS
Procedural Term nol ogy Manual s distributed by
H ghmark to its network of physicians during
the cl ass period.

4. The class clainms are barred by
di scl osures contained in the H ghmark/ PBS
“Policy Review & News” (“PRN’) distributed by
H ghmark to its network of physicians during
the cl ass period.

5. The class clains are barred by the
SORs sent to providers with their
rei nbursenent checks, which SORs failed to
list the nedical codes and procedures
submtted by the providers in their original
cl ai ms.
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6. Endorsenents on the SORs to the
effect that acceptance of the “all owed
anount” (that is, defendants’ fee schedul e
anount) constituted a rel ease and
sati sfaction of the class’ clains for
rei mbursenent for nedical services when such
al | oned anmount was not paid.

7. Defendants shoul d be precluded from
of fering defenses or introducing evidence of
def enses under Rule 37(b)(2) of the Federal
Rul es of Civil Procedure.

8. The class clains are barred by the
doctrine of primary jurisdiction.

9. The class clains are barred because
their injuries and danages were caused by the
conduct of others, not defendants.

10. The class clainms are barred by
failure to exhaust adm nistrative or
contractual remedies.

11. The class clainms are barred by the
applicable statute of limtations.

12. The class clains are barred by the
McCarr an- Fer guson Act.

13. The class clains are barred because
def endants are i nmune from suit under the
state action inmunity doctrine.

14. The class clains are barred because
they are preenpted by the Enpl oyee Retirenent
| ncone Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA").?%

15. The class clains are barred because
allowing their prosecution conflicts with
Pennsyl vani a state adm ni strative schenes
governi ng i nsurance.

16. The class clains are barred by the
doctrine of res judicata.

37 29 U.S.C. 88 1001-1461.
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17. The class clainms are barred by the
doctrine of collateral estoppel.

18. The class clains are barred because
the nmedical services for which the cl ass
seeks conpensation were not covered services.

19. The class clains are barred because
of the absence of any material m s-
representations, msleading disclosures or
om ssions by defendants in their standard
form fill-in-the-blanks Prinmary Care
Physi ci an Provi der Contract and speciali st
Consul ti ng Agreenent.

20. The class clains are barred because
defendants | ack the requisite scienter,
specific intent or willfullness to comm t
fraud.

21. The class clains are barred because
def endants had no duty to disclose the
information which plaintiffs allege was
wi thheld, omtted or only partially disclosed
inthis litigation.

22. The class clains are barred under
t he doctrines of settlenent, rel ease or
accord and satisfaction (to the extent not
i ncl uded above with respect to the SORs).

23. The class clains are barred because
plaintiffs and other class nenbers know ngly
and voluntarily accepted the terns of their
Primary Care Physician Provider Contracts and
speci alist Consulting Agreenents with
def endants and recei ved sone benefits under
t hose contracts.

24. The class’ equitable clainms are
barred because adequate renedi es exi st at
I aw.

Def endants’ Contenti ons

Def endants assert that plaintiffs have not satisfied

any of the factors for class certification. Initially,
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def endants assert that plaintiffs’ proposed class is not
ascertainable. Defendants contend that the proposed class
definition is inproper because it is vague, overbroad and

i ncludes “central issues of liability” as part of the class
definition.

Def endants al so contend that plaintiffs do not have
standing to proceed because plaintiffs have not denonstrated that
t hey have suffered any injuries. 1In addition, defendants contend
that individualized issues will overwhel mcomon issues in this
matter and that a class action is not the superior nethod for
fairly and efficiently resolving this controversy.

More specifically, defendants assert that individual
i ssues overwhel m common i ssues because plaintiffs’ clains require
determ nati ons on a provider-by-provider and cl ai mby-clai mbasis
and because under RICO plaintiffs nust show not only injury, but
al so proxi mate causation, for each class nenber’s injuries.

Next, defendants allege that plaintiffs’ clains are not
typical of the class they seek to represent because plaintiffs
are paid al nost exclusively on a capitation, not a fee-for-
service, basis; and those clains cannot by definition be typical
of specialists who bill on a fee-for-service basis.

Additionally, individual plaintiffs wll be subject to individual
and uni que defenses including reliance, materiality,

ratification, release and wai ver. Mor eover, defendants cont end
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that plaintiffs fail to identify any evidence that other
providers suffered the sane or simlar injuries alleged by
plaintiffs.

Def endants assert that plaintiffs and their counsel are
not, and will not, adequately represent the proposed cl ass
because of possible conflicts of interest, the |ack of
famliarity with the basic facts of this case and the conduct of
counsel in this case and ot her cases.

Finally, defendants assert that we should not sinply
accept the allegations of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint and are,
in fact, required to | ook beyond the pl eadi ngs when determ ni ng
the propriety of certifying a class.

Because the scope of our factual review is of the
ut nost i nportance, we address that question first.

DI SCUSSI ON

Scope of Revi ew
Plaintiffs contend that the determ nation of class
certification is required to be based on the allegations
contained in their Anended Conplaint. Mre specifically,
plaintiffs contend that it is inappropriate to determne the
merits of the clains of the class representatives at the cl ass

certification stage and that this is what defendants seek from
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the court. Plaintiffs rely on a nunber of cases in support of
their contentions.3®

On the contrary, defendants assert that we nmust | ook
beyond t he pl eadi ngs and that an exam nation of the el enents of
t he underlying causes of action is critically inportant to the
determ nati on of whether class certification is proper.
Def endants contend that in this circuit, the court is required to
conduct its own inquiry as to whether the requirenents of Rule 23
have been satisfied and that the court nust go beyond plaintiffs’
untested factual and |legal allegations in determning the
propriety of certifying a class. Defendants rely on a nunber of
cases for their contentions.*

For the follow ng reasons, we agree and disagree in
part with each party regarding the proper scope of review of
plaintiffs’ factual allegations.

In Eisen, supra, the United States Suprene Court

stated, “In determning the propriety of a class action, the
guestion is not whether the plaintiff or plaintiffs have stated a
cause of action or will prevail on the nerits, but rather whether

the requirenents of Rule 23 are net.” 417 U. S. at 178,

38 Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417 U S. 156, 94 S.Ct. 2140,
40 L.Ed.2d 732 (1974); In re: Cephalon Securities Litigation, 1998 W. 470160
(E.D.Pa. Aug. 12, 1998)(Geen, J.); Neuberger v. Shapiro, 1998 W. 826980
(E.D. Pa. Nov. 15, 1998)(Ludwi g, J.).

39 Gariety v. Grant Thornton LLP, 368 F.3d 356 (4" Cir. 2004);
Newton v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 259 F.3d 154 (3d Cir.
2001); Johnston v. HBO Fil m Managenent, Inc., 265 F.3d 178 (3d Cir. 2001).

- XXXiii-



94 S. Ct. at 2154, 40 L.Ed.2d at 749 quoting MIller v. Nackey

| nternational, 452 F.2d 424, 427 (5'" Cr. 1971).

Thereafter, in General Tel ephone Conpany of the

Sout hwest v. Fal con, 557 U. S. 147, 102 S.C. 2364, 72 L.Ed.2d 740

(1982) the Suprene Court stated, “Sonetines the issues are plain
enough fromthe pleadings to determ ne whether the interests of
the absent parties are fairly enconpassed within the naned
plaintiff[s'] claim and sonetines it may be necessary for the
court to probe behind the pleadings before comng to rest on the
certification question.” 557 U S. at 160, 102 S.Ct. at 2372,

72 L.Ed.2d at 752.

I n Newt on, supra and Johnston, supra, and based upon

the Suprenme Court’s decision in Falcon, supra, the United States

Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit recognized that in certain
circunstances it is appropriate for the court to | ook beyond the
pl eadi ngs when nmaking its class certification decision. Newon,
259 F.3d at 166; Johnston, 265 F.3d at 186.

Based upon our review of the rel evant precedent, we
conclude that neither plaintiffs nor defendants are entirely
correct on the scope of review of plaintiffs’ allegations. It is
clear that in appropriate circunstances we have the authority to
go beyond the pleadings to make our class certification decision,

Fal con, Newton, Johnston, but we are not required to do so.

Moreover, it is equally clear that if we do go beyond the
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pl eadi ngs we do not determ ne whether plaintiffs have stated a
cause of action which may ultimately prevail on the nerits.

Ei sen, supra.

Accordi ngly, we conclude that where appropriate to go
beyond t he pl eadi ngs, we shall do so. |If going beyond the
pl eadi ngs is unnecessary to our inquiry, we are not required to,
but may, | ook beyond the pleadings. However, we will not nake
the forbidden determ nation of whether plaintiffs’ have stated a
claimor whether they may likely prevail on their clains. The
relevant inquiry will be limted to whether, where necessary,
plaintiffs have cone forward with sone evidence to support their
contentions.

Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 23

Rul e 23 of the Federal Rules of G vil Procedure sets
forth the prerequisites for class certification. A proposed
class nmust satisfy the four criteria of Rule 23(a): nunerosity,
comonality, typicality and adequacy of representation.

The certification requirenents of Rule 23(a) enbrace
two basic principles: (1) the necessity and efficiency of
adjudicating plaintiffs’ clains as a class; and (2) the assurance
of protecting the interests of absent class nenbers. Baby Neal
v. Casey, 43 F.3d 48, 55 (3d Gr. 1994). A class nust conply

with each of the elenents of Rule 23(a) together with one of the

requi renents of Rule 23(b). Anthem Products, Inc. v. Wndsor,
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521 U. S 591, 117 S. . 2231, 138 L.Ed.2d 689 (1997);

Rodriquez v. MKinney, 156 F.R D. 112 (E. D. Pa. 1994) (Brody, J.).

Plaintiffs proposed class seeks nobney damages, thus,
t he proposed class nust satisfy the requirenents of Rule 23(b)(3)
regardi ng the issues of predom nance and superiority. More
specifically, the relevant issues are whether comon questions of
| aw or fact predom nate and whether a class action represents the
superior nmethod for adjudicating the case. Newton, 259 F. 3d
at 181.

In that regard the applicable sections of Rules 23(a)
and (b) provide:

Rul e 23. Cl ass Actions

(a) Prerequisites to a Cass Action. One
or nore nenbers of a class nmay sue or be
sued as representative parties on behalf
of all only if (1) the class is so
numerous that joinder of all nmenbers is
i npracticable, (2) there are questions
of law or fact common to the class,

(3) the clains or defenses of the
representative parties are typical of
the clains or defenses of the class, and
(4) the representative parties wll
fairly and adequately protect the
interests of the class.

(b) C ass Actions Mintainable. An
action may be nmintained as a cl ass
action if the prerequisites of

subdi vision (a) are satisfied, and in
addi ti on:

* * *

(3) the court finds that the
guestions of law or fact conmon to the
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menbers of the class predom nate over
any questions affecting only individual
menbers, and that a class action is
superior to other avail able nethods for
the fair and efficient adjudication of
the controversy. The matters pertinent
to the findings include: (A) the
interest of nmenbers of the class in
individually controlling the prosecution
or defense of separate actions; (B) the
extent and nature of any litigation
concerning the controversy already
comenced by or agai nst nenbers of the
class; (C) the desirability or
undesirability of concentrating the
litigation of the clains in the
particular forum (D) the difficulties
likely to be encountered in the
managenent of a class action.

Fed. R G v.P. 23(a) and (b).

A class action is an appropriate neans for expeditious
litigation of the issues where a | arge nunber of individuals may
have been injured, although no one person may have been danmaged
to a degree which would induce the institution of individual

l[itigation. See Eisenberg v. N ssen, 766 F.2d 770, 785

(3d Cir. 1985). “This is especially true when the defendants are
corporate behenoths with a proclivity for drawi ng out | egal
proceedi ngs for as |long as humanly possible and burying their

opponents in paperwork and filings.” Klay v. Humana, Inc.,

382 F.3d 1241, 1271 (11'" Cr. 2004), cert. denied,
543 U. S. 1081, 125 S.Ct. 877, 160 L.Ed.2d 825 (2005).
Finally, “[t]he interests of justice require that in a

doubtful case...any error, if there is to be one, should be

- XXXVii -



commtted in favor of allowing a class action.” Eisenberg,

766 F.2d at 755 (gquoting Kahan v. Rosenstiel, 424 F.2d 161, 169

(3d Cr. 1970)). Taking these considerations together with the
requi renents of Rule 23, we address plaintiff’s request for class
certification.
Nunerosity
Rul e 23(a) (1) provides that the nunmerosity requirenent
is satisfied if the class “is so nunmerous that joinder of al
menbers is inpracticable.” Joinder nust be inpracticable, not

inpossible. 1n re: One Meridian Plaza Fire Litigation, 1993 U. S.

Dist LEXIS 9841 at *21, (E.D.Pa. July 16, 1993)(Buckwalter, J.).
There is no magi ¢ nunber that satisfies the nunerosity

requi renent. However, classes that include hundreds or thousands
of menbers generally suffice for purposes of this prerequisite.

Weiss v. York Hospital, 745 F.2d 786, 808 (3d Cir. 1984).

In this case, plaintiffs have shown a potential class
of thousands of doctors. Specifically, plaintiffs assert that
potential class is made up of famly practitioners and

specialists as foll ows:

Year Fam |y Practice Providers Specialists
1996 1209 3146
1997 1380 3466
1998 1531 3980
1999 1632 4132
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2000 1749 4304
2001 1837 4647

Def endants do not dispute that plaintiffs have
satisfied the nunerosity requirenent. Specifically, nowhere in
ei ther Defendants’ Joint Menorandum of Law in Qpposition to
Plaintiffs’ Anended Mtion for Cass Certification, or at
closing argunents at the class certification hearing, % did any
def endant argue that the nunerosity requirenent has not been
satisfied.

Not wi t hst andi ng def endants’ apparent acqui escence to
nunmerosity, we conclude that the nunber of famly practice
provi ders and specialists averred by plaintiffs, constitutes
substanti al evidence that the nunber of potential class nenbers
is so nunerous that joinder of all of themis inpracticable.

Commonal ity

Rul e 23(a)(2) requires that there be “questions of |aw
or fact comon to the class”. The comopnality requirenent is
satisfied if the nanmed plaintiffs share at | east one question of

fact or law with the prospective class. Wiss v. York Hospital,

745 F.2d 786, 808-809 (3d Gr. 1984). “Because the requirenent
may be satisfied by a single comon issue, it is easily net....”
Baby Neal, 43 F.3d at 56. It is not necessary that all putative

cl ass nenbers share identical clains. Hassi ne v. Jeffes,

40
pages 43-93.

Not es of Testinony of closing argunents held on March 10, 2006 at
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846 F.2d 169, 176-177 (3d Cir. 1988).

“Even where individual facts and circunstances do
becone inportant to the resolution, class treatnment is not
precluded. C asses can be certified for certain particularized
i ssues, and, under well-established principles of nodern case
managenent, actions are frequently bifurcated.” Baby Neal,

43 F.3d at 57.

Plaintiffs allege that defendants engaged in a pattern
of collective behavior, or a coomon scheme, which has inflicted
substantial harmon the entire potential class of plaintiffs
which is detrinmental the health of their patients and to the
wel fare of the general public. Plaintiffs assert that defendants
have i npl enented cl ai ns-processing software with the ability to
mani pul ate the CPT codes, downcode and bundl e clains and del ay
and wongfully deny paynents to physicians for services
performed. Plaintiffs contend that, based upon defendants’
actions, the entire clains processing process is fraudul ent.

More specifically, plaintiffs assert that because
defendants fail to make the appropriate and tinely paynents,
“physi ci ans cannot nmaintain their practices and cannot provide
the continuity of care that patients require and which Plaintiffs
seek to provide as a matter of sound nedical practice.”*

Def endants seek to lunp the commonality issue involved

41 Plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint filed October 6, 2003 at
par agr aph 9.
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in Rule 23(a)(2) with the predom nance issue described in
Rule 23(b)(3). Specifically, defendants assert that:

(1) plaintiffs have not proved whether any class nenber was
actually injured; (2) plaintiffs’ allegations of fraudul ent
capitation paynents require nenber-by-nenber anal ysis;

(3) plaintiffs’ allegations of fraudul ent fee-for-service
paynments requi re nmenber-by-nenber analysis; (4) the use of

aut omat ed paynent processing does not change the predom nance of
i ndi vidual i zed issues; (5) plaintiffs’ RICOclains require

i ndi vi dual i zed proof of causation by each provider; and

(6) individualized questions would predom nate at the trial of
plaintiffs’ contract and pronpt paynent clains.

The foregoing assertions by defendants are nore
appropriately addressed during our discussion of the predom nance
i ssue, below. Accordingly, we decline to address those
assertions here. Moreover, notw thstandi ng defendants’
assertions, we conclude that there are nunerous comon issues of
fact and | aw which satisfy the requirements of commonality
pursuant to Rule 23(a)(2).

Common Facts

The nunerous common issues of fact include: (1) conmon
aut omat ed bundling practices; (2) comon aut omat ed downcodi ng
practices; (3) a common failure to pay clean clains within the

applicable statutory tine period; (4) a comon failure to tinely
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pl ace patients on capitation rolls; (5 a common failure to pay
appropriate capitation or fee-for-service on guest nenbers;

(6) common proof of a conspiracy to defraud in violation of RICO
(7) a common failure to recognize CPT prescribed nodifiers;

(8) whet her defendants inproperly suspended clains to delay or
deny paynent; (9) whether defendants failed to pay for nedically
necessary covered services; and (10) whet her defendants fol |l owed
a “pursue and pay” or a “pay and pursue” strategy for the paynent
of clains under the Pennsylvania pronpt paynent statute.

Common Legal | ssues

The common issues of |aw, anong others, include whether
defendants (1) commtted mail or wire fraud; (2) violated the
Pennsyl vani a pronpt pay statute; and (3) conspired in violation
of RI CO 4

Common_Def enses

In addition, we conclude that numerous defenses are
appropriate for classw de treatnent, including defendants’
contentions that: (1) the class clains are barred by disclosures
contained in Keystone’'s common standard form fill-in-the-blanks
Primary Care Physician Provider Contract, specialist Consulting

Agreenent and Keystone's Adm nistrative Manual (i ncluding updates

42 VWi | e each of these issues are based, in part, upon factual

det erm nati ons, whether these factual allegations, if proven, constitute mail
fraud, wire fraud, violation of the Pennsylvania pronpt paynent statute,
conspiracy, and RICO violations are anong the ultimate |egal conclusions for
determination in this case.
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and revisions), in effect during the class period; (2) the class
clainms are barred by disclosures contained in the H ghmark/PBS
Procedural Term nol ogy Manuals distributed by H ghmark to its
net wor k of physicians during the class period; (3) the class
clainms are barred by disclosures contained in the H ghmark/PBS
“Policy Review & News” distributed by H ghmark to its network of
physi ci ans during the class period; (4) the class clains are
barred by the SORs sent to providers with their reinbursenent
checks; (5) endorsenents on the SORs to the effect that
acceptance of the “allowed amount” (that is, defendants’ fee
schedul e anbunt) constituted a rel ease and satisfaction of the
class’ clains for reinbursenent for nedical services even when
such al |l owed anobunt was not paid; (6) the class clains are barred
because the injuries and damages of the class nenbers were caused
by the conduct of others, not defendants; (7) the class clains
are barred by the applicable statute of limtations; and (8) the
class clains are barred because of the absence of any materi al
m srepresentations, m sl eading disclosures or om ssions by
defendants in their standard form Primary Care Physician Provider
Contract and specialist Consulting Agreenent.

Based upon the foregoing, we conclude that plaintiffs

have satisfied the commonality requirenent of Rule 23(a)(2).

Typicality
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Rul e 23(a)(3) provides that the typicality requirenent
is satisfied if the “clains or defenses of the representative
parties are typical of the clains or defenses of the class.”
Fed. R Cv.P. 23(a)(3) The typicality requirenent is designed to
align the interests of the class and the class representatives so
that the latter will work for the benefit of the entire class

t hrough the pursuit of their own goals. [In re Prudenti al

| nsurance Conpany of Anerica, 148 F.3d 283, 311 (3d G r. 1998).

The typicality test is not overly demandi ng. See

O Keefe v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC, 214 F.R D. 266, 289

(E.D. Pa. 2003)(Van Antwerpen, J.). The typicality requirenent
may be net despite the existence of factual differences between
the clains of the naned plaintiffs and the clains of the proposed
class. Eisenberg, 766 F.2d at 786. |If “the class repre-
sentatives...present those comon issues of |aw and fact that
justify class treatnent, thereby tending to assure that the
absent class nenbers wll be adequately represented,” then Rul e

23(a)(3) is satisfied. Hoxworth v. Blinder, Robinson & Co.,

Inc., 980 F.2d 912, 923 (3d Cir. 1992)(quoting Ei senberq,

766 F.2d at 786).

The typicality requirenment is usually satisfied in
cases where the proposed class representatives are chall engi ng
t he sane unl awful conduct which affects the naned plaintiffs and

the putative class even if there were varying fact patterns.
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Baby Neal, 43 F.3d at 58. “Factual differences wll not render a
claimatypical if the claimarises fromthe sanme event or
practice or course of conduct that gives rise to the class of the
class nmenbers, and if it is based upon the sane |egal theory.”
Hoxworth, 980 F.2d at 923. Mbreover, even relatively pronounced
factual differences wll generally not preclude a finding of
typicality where there is a strong simlarity of |egal theories.
Baby Neal, 43 F.3d at 58.

Plaintiffs contend that they have easily met their
burden of denonstrating typicality because their primry
contention (that defendants unlawfully deni ed, del ayed and
reduced rei nmbursenent paynents to class nenbers) applies equally
to each nenber of the class. Mreover, plaintiffs assert that
t he sane course of conduct of defendants which gives rise to

plaintiffs’ clains also gives rise to the clains of the entire

cl ass.
Typicality Defenses
Def endants assert four separate reasons why plaintiffs’
clains are not typical. First, defendants contend that

plaintiffs, who are famly practice primary care providers cannot
be deened typical of approximtely 4000 specialists whomthey
seek to represent. Second, defendants assert that plaintiffs
cannot be typical of the potential class because plaintiffs fai

to present evidence to establish that any other provider received
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i nproper capitation or fee-for-service paynents.

Third, defendants contend that plaintiffs are atypical
because they have no standi ng because of the absence of any harm
or actual injury to plaintiff. Fourth, defendants assert that
plaintiffs are atypical because they are subject to unique
def enses of reasonable reliance, materiality and ratification.
For the follow ng reasons, we disagree with defendants and find
that plaintiffs have net the typicality requirenent of
Rul e 23(a)(3).

Speci ali sts

We di sagree wth defendants’ contention that because
plaintiffs are primary care providers they cannot be deened
typi cal of approximately 4000 specialists whomthey seek to
represent. Defendants expert Phillips C. Hurd testified at his
deposition that if both a primary care provider and a speciali st
provi de the sane service, they would each bill the code for the
procedure in the sanme manner.*

Moreover, while it is conceded that only a snal

portion (approximately 5% of Dr. Gider’s remuneration from

Keyst one conmes from fee-for-service* billing, (the majority

43 Not es of Testinony of the deposition of Phillips C. Hurd conducted
August 3, 2004 at page 157.

44 In submitting the fee-for-service claim plaintiffs use a form
created by the Health Care Financing Adm nistration and CPT codes devel oped by
the American Medi cal Association to describe the services perforned for the
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comng fromcapitation), there is no difference in how Dr. G der
or any specialist submts fee-for-service clains, or in how they
are treated by defendants after subm ssion. The only difference
is the nunber of fee-for-service clains submtted by primry care
physi ci ans versus specialists. |In addition, plaintiffs have
subm tted separate proposed subclasses for capitation and fee-
for-service clains.

Accordi ngly, we conclude that the defense assertion
that plaintiffs’ clainms are not typical based upon an all eged
di fference between primary care physicians and specialists is
W thout nerit.

Paynent s

Def endants further contend that plaintiffs cannot be
typical of the potential class because plaintiffs fail to present
evi dence to show that any other provider received inproper
capitation or fee-for-service paynents. W find it disingenuous
for defendants on the one hand to resist discovery requests by
plaintiffs for production of docunents involving other providers
as overly broad, burdensone and irrelevant, and on the other hand
to contend that plaintiffs cannot show injury to any other
potential class nenber.

It would not be appropriate to permt defendants to

i nsured patient.
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frustrate the discovery process® and then argue that plaintiffs
have not net their burden of production. As noted earlier, the
question is not whether plaintiffs have stated a cause of action
or will prevail on the nerits, but rather whether the
requi renents of Rule 23 are net. Eisen, 417 U. S. at 178,
94 S.Ct. at 2154, 40 L.Ed.2d at 749. Defendants treat the within
nmotion for class certification as if it were a dispositive
summary judgnent notion or a trial on the nerits. It is neither.
Plaintiffs have produced evi dence of possible inproper
bundl i ng of cl ains, downcodi ng, denial of clains as integral
w thout prior notification and untinely paynments pursuant to the
Pennsyl vani a pronpt pay statute. The evidence does not indicate
that these all eged practices have been applied only to plaintiffs
Natalie Gider and Kutztown Famly Practice, P.C. Rather, it
appears that defendants’ practices involve all Keystone
provi ders.
Accordingly, we find defendants’ assertion that
plaintiffs have not shown any harmto any other nmenber of the

potential class to be without nerit.

I njury

45 We are not specifically ruling on any di scovery issues in the
wi thin Opinion. However, as stated at the class certification hearing, we are
concerned about the possibility that numerous rel evant di scoverabl e docunents
have been untinmely produced or inappropriately w thheld.
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In the section above, we addressed defendants’
contention that plaintiffs have no standi ng because plaintiffs
have not shown any harmor actual injury to thensel ves.
Plaintiffs have cone forward with evidence to support all of
their classwide clainms. Thus, we conclude that defendants have
not stated a valid objection to the typicality requirenent.

Uni que Def enses

Finally, defendants assert that plaintiffs are atypica
because they are subject to unique defenses of reasonabl e
reliance, materiality and ratification. W disagree.

The issue of whether a unique defense against the
proposed cl ass representative precludes class certification was
recently addressed by the United States Court of Appeals for the

Third Grcuit in Beck v. Maxinus, Inc., 457 F.3d 291 (3d G

2006). In Beck, the Third Grcuit stated that “[t]o defeat class
certification, a defendant nust show sone degree of I|ikelihood a
uni que defense will play a significant role at trial. |If a court
determ nes an asserted uni que defense has no nerit, the defense
wi Il not preclude class certification.” 457 F.3d at 300.

The Third G rcuit further stated that a “proposed cl ass
representative is neither typical nor adequate if the repre-
sentative is subject to a unique defense that is likely to becone
a major focus of the litigation.” 457 F.3d at 301.

In their brief, defendants assert three uni que defenses
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of reasonable reliance, materiality and ratification. However,
the only defense that defendants discuss in detail in opposition
to plaintiffs’ notion for class certification is the issue of
reliance. Accordingly, we conclude that on the issues of
materiality and ratification and any other purported defenses
uni que to the proposed class representatives, defendants fail to
show sone degree of l|ikelihood that a unique defense will play a

significant role at trial. Beck, supra. W address the issue of

reliance bel ow.
Rel i ance
RI CO prohi bits certain conduct involving a “pattern of
racketeering activity”. 18 U.S.C. 8 1962. The RICO statute
itself says nothing about reliance as a requirenent either for

civil liability or for proof of damages. Systens Managenent,

Inc. v. Loiselle, 303 F.3d 100, 103 (1%t Gr. 2002). Rather,

18 U.S.C. 8§ 1964(c), (RICO s statutory standing provision),
provi des a private cause of action for “[a]lny person injured in
hi s busi ness or property by reason of a violation of section
1962....7

In Hol nes v. Securities |Investor Protection

Corporation, 503 U S. 258, 112 S.C. 1311, 117 L.Ed.2d 532 (1992)

the United States Suprenme Court held that a plaintiff may only

sue under section 1964(c) if the alleged RICO violation was the



proxi mate cause of plaintiff’s injury.

Recently, in Anza v. ldeal Steel Supply Corp.

_uUusS _ , 126 S.C. 1991, 164 L.Ed.2d 720 (2006) the Suprene
Court again reiterated the proxi mate cause requirenent. However
in that case, the majority stated that “because |Ideal has not
satisfied the proxi mte-cause requirenent articulated in Hol nes,
we have no occasion to address the substantial question whether a
show ng of reliance is required.” US|, 126 S.C
at 1998, 164 L.Ed.2d at 731. (Enphasis added.)

Nunerous circuit courts have held that reliance is an
el emrent of a RICO action based upon the predicate acts of nail
and wire fraud.* |In particular, the United States Court of
Appeals for the Sixth Grcuit has interpreted the section 1964(c)
proxi mate causation provision to require a plaintiff to plead
reliance in order to recover on a civil RICO claimpredicated on

acts of fraud. Central Distributors of Beer, Inc. v. Conn,

5 F.3d 181 (6'" Cir. 1993).

Moreover, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Fifth Crcuit has stated, “The persuasive issues of individual
reliance that generally exist in RICO fraud actions create a

wor ki ng presunption against class certification.” Sandw ch Chef

46 See Chisolmv. TranSouth Financial Corporation, 95 F.3d 331
(4" Cir. 1996); Appletree Sqguare | Linmted Partnership v. W R Gace & Co.,
29 F.3d 1283 (8" Cir. 1994); Pelletier v. Zweifel, 921 F.2d 1465 (11" Gr.
1991); County of Suffolk v. Long Island Lighting Conpany, 907 F.2d 1295
(2d Cr. 1990)




of Texas, Inc. v. Reliance National |Indemity |nsurance Conpany,

319 F.3d 205, 219 (5'" Cr. 2003).

We have found no decision by the United States Court of
Appeals for the Third G rcuit which squarely addresses whet her
reliance is an el enent that needs to be established in a civil
RI CO acti on based upon nmail or wire fraud.* However, we are
aware that nunmerous district courts in this circuit have
engrafted a reliance requirement in R CO fraud cases.

In addition, we are aware of at |east one district
court that has borrowed a presunption of reliance fromthe Third
Circuit’'s securities law jurisprudence and applied it in the R CO
context.* Moreover, we are also aware that our colleague United
States District Judge Anita B. Brody permtted reliance to be
proven by inference in a RICO mail fraud case.

However, in Systens Managenent, Inc. v. Loiselle, the

United States Court of Appeals for the First Crcuit found no
basis for a reliance requirenent in R CO actions alleging mail

and wire fraud. The First Crcuit rejected such a requirenent by

47 See New Jersey Carpenters Health Fund v. Phillip Mrris, Inc.,
17 F.Supp. 2d 324, 339 n.19 (D.N. J. 1998).

48 See Lester v. Percudani, 217 F.R D. 345, n. 10 (M D. Pa.
2003) (Conner, J.); Smith v. Berg, 2001 U S. Dist. LEXIS 15814 (E.D.Pa. Cct 1,
2001) (O Neill, Jr., J.); Warden v. Mlelland, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11786
(E.D.Pa. Aug. 8, 2001)(Hutton, J.); Truckway, Inc. v. Ceneral Electric,
1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4954 (E. D.Pa. Mar. 30, 1992)(Reed, Jr., J.);

49 Spark v. MBNA Corporation, 178 F.R D. 431, 435-436 (D.Del. 1998).

50 Rodri guez v. MKinney, 156 F.R D. 112 (E.D.Pa. 1994).




reasoni ng as foll ows:

It is true that at conmmon |aw a civi
action for fraud ordinarily requires proof
that the defrauded plaintiff relied upon the
deception, and sonme courts have inported this
requi renment into R CO actions where the
predi cate acts conprise mail or wire fraud.
But RI CO bases its own brand of civi
liability sinmply on the comm ssion of
specified crimnal acts--here, crimnal
fraud--so long as they conprise a “pattern of
racketeering activity”; and crimnal fraud
under the federal statute does not require
“reliance” by anyone: it is enough that the
def endant sought to deceive, whether or not
he succeeded. . ..

Per haps there is sonme surface
incongruity in allowing a civil RICO
plaintiff to recover for fraudulent acts even
t hough the sanme plaintiff could not (for |ack
of reliance) recover for fraud at common | aw.
But Congress structured its civil renmedy to
all ow recovery for harm caused by defined
crimnal acts, including violation of section
1341; and, as noted, the federal mail fraud
statute does not require reliance. Thus,
under a literal reading of RICO -the
presunptive choice in interpretation--nothing
nore that the crimnal violation and
resulting harmis required.

This is not a conclusive argunent;
comon | aw (and other) concepts can often be
inmported to flesh out a federal statute.
| ndeed, we assune here that Congress intended
to require not only “but for” but also
“proxi mate cause” to link the crimnal act
with the harmto the plaintiff, even though
the statute says nothing specific on this
point. But proximate cause--largely a proxy
for foreseeability--is not only a general
condition of civil liability at conmon | aw
but is alnpbst essential to shape and delimt

a rational renedy: otherw se the chain of
causation coul d be endl ess.



By contrast, reliance is a specialized
condition that happens to have grown up with
common | aw fraud. Reliance is doubtless the
nost obvi ous way in which fraud can cause
harm but it is not the only way.... There
is no good reason here to depart fromRI CO s
literal |anguage by inporting a reliance
requi renent into RICO

Loiselle, 303 F.3d at 103-104. (Internal citations
omtted.) (Enmphasis in original.)

Additionally, in his dissent® in Anza, United States
Suprene Court Justice O arence Thonmas, relying in part on the
First Grcuit’s decision in Loiselle, stated as follows:

In my view, the mere fact that the predicate
acts underlying a particular R CO violation
happen to be fraud of fenses does not mnean
that reliance, an el enent of common-| aw
fraud, is also incorporated as an el enent of
a civil RICOclaim

Petitioners are correct that the conmon
| aw generally required a show ng of
justifiable reliance before a plaintiff could
recover for damages caused by fraud. But
Rl CO does not confer on private plaintiffs a
right to sue defendants who engage in any act
of common-| aw fraud; instead, racketeering
activity includes, as relevant to this case,
“any act which is indictable under [18 U S. C
8] 1341 (relating to mail fraud) [and 8] 1343
(relating to wire fraud).” And we have
recogni zed that these crimnal statutes “did
not incorporate all the elenents of conmmon-
law fraud.” Instead, the crimnal nmail fraud
statute applies to anyone who “havi ng devi sed
or intending to devise any schenme or artifice
to defraud...for the purposes of executing

51 In dissent, Justice Thomas answers the “substantial question”

that the majority did not reach regardi ng whether reliance is an el erent that

nmust be pled and proven in a RICO fraud action. u. S , 126 S. Ct.
at 1998, 164 L.Ed.2d at 731.
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such schenme or artifice or attenpting so to
do, places in any post office...any manner or
t hi ng whatever to be sent or delivered by the
Postal Service....” 8§ 1343. See § 1343
(simlar |anguage for wire fraud). W have
specifically noted that “[b]y prohibiting the
‘scheme to defraud,’ rather than the

conpl eted fraud, the el ement of
reliance...would clearly be inconsistent with
the statutes Congress enacted.”

Because an individual can commt an
i ndi ctable act of mail or wire fraud even if
no one relies on his fraud, he can engage in
a pattern of racketeering activity, in
violation of § 1962, wi thout proof of
reliance. Accordingly, it cannot be disputed
that the Governnent coul d prosecute a person
for such behavior. The terns of § 1964(c),
whi ch broadly authorize suit by ‘[a]ny person
injured in his business or property by reason
of a violation of section 1962,” permt no
di fferent concl usi on when an i ndi vi dual
brings a civil action against such a RI CO
vi ol at or.

It is true that our decision in Hol nes
to apply the common-1aw proxi mate | aw
requi renment was |i kew se not conpelled by the
broad | anguage of the statute. But our
decision in that case was justified by the
“very unli kel i hood that Congress meant to
allow all factually injured plaintiffs to
recover.” This unlikelihood stens, in part,
fromthe nature of proximte cause, which is
‘not only a general condition of civil
l[tability at common | aw but is al nost
essential to shape and delimt a rational
remedy.” We also decided in Holnmes in |ight
of Congress’ decision to use the sanme words
to inpose civil liability under RICO as it
had in 8 7 of the Shernan Act, 26 Stat. 210,
into which federal courts had inplied a
proxi mate-cause limtation. Accordingly, it
was fair to interpret the broad | anguage ‘ by
reason of” as neaning, in all civil R CO
cases, that the violation nust be both the
cause-in-fact and the proxi nate cause of the
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plaintiff’s injury.

Here, by contrast, the civil action
provi si on cannot be read to al ways require
that the plaintiff have relied on the
defendant’s action. Reliance is not a

general limtation on civil recovery in tort;
it “is a specialized condition that happens
to have grown up with common |aw fraud.” For

nost of the predicate acts underlying Rl CO
violations, it cannot be argued that the
common law, if it even recogni zed such acts
as civilly actionable, required proof of
reliance. 1In other words, there is no

| anguage in 8 1964(c) that could fairly be
read to add a reliance requirenent in fraud
cases only. Nor is there any reason to
bel i eve that Congress woul d have defined
“racketeering activity” to include acts

i ndi ctabl e under the mail and wire fraud
statutes, if it intended fraud-related acts
to be predicate acts under RICO only when

t hose acts woul d have been actionabl e under
t he common | aw.

Because reliance cannot be read into
88 1341 and 1343, nor into RRCO itself, it is
not an elenent of a civil RICO claim

Anza, us _ , 126 S.C. at 2007-2009, 164 L.Ed.2d at 740-

742. (Thomas, J., dissenting). (lInternal citations omtted.)
(Enmphasis in original.)

After review of all the pertinent authority on the
i ssue of whether reliance is an elenent of a RICO fraud action
and in light of no apparent precedent fromthe Third Crcuit, we
find the reasoning of both the First Grcuit in Loiselle and of
Justice Thomas’ dissent in Anza persuasive on this issue. W
conclude that reliance is not an elenent of a RI CO clai mbased

upon the predicate acts of mail or wire fraud. Moreover, we
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specifically reject the decisions of the Second, Fourth, Fifth,
Si xth, Eighth and Eleventh Crcuits and the district courts
within this circuit that have inposed a reliance el enent as part
of RRCO mail and wire fraud cl ai ns.

In further support of our determ nation, we note that

the Fifth Crcuit in Sandw ch Chef, supra, inposed a presunption

agai nst class certification of RICO clains based upon mail and

wi re fraud because of the reliance issue. W cannot conceive

t hat Congress woul d have intended for the judiciary to elimnate
fromthe class action foruman entire category of clains.

However, that is the effect of the decisions applying reliance as
an element in RRCO mail and wire fraud cases. It seens that

W thout presuming reliance it is nearly inpossible to have a
class certified in an area of the |aw where it is otherw se
appropriate and judicially economcal to do so. Moreover, in
this circuit, the use of the class action has been viewed as a

favorabl e device. See Baby Neal, supra.

Accordi ngly because we conclude that reliance is not an
el ement of a RICO fraud action, we determ ne that defendants have
not asserted a uni que defense which will preclude a finding of

typicality.

In the event that we are m staken in our application of

t he casel aw on the issue of reliance, we adopt as persuasive the
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reasoning of the United States Court of Appeals for the El eventh

Crcuit in Klay v. Humana, supra, for the proposition that

plaintiffs will be able to prove classwi de reliance based upon
circunstantial evidence. |In Klay the Eleventh Circuit addressed
the issue of reliance in a nearly identical Multi-Di strict
Litigation RICO action and determned that, as in this case:

(1) the common issues of fact concerning the existence of a
conspiracy, a pattern of racketeering activity, and a Managed
Care Enterprise are very substantial; and (2) even though each
plaintiff nmust prove his or her own reliance, the circunstanti al
evi dence which could be produced at trial is comobn to the whole
cl ass.

Thus, the Eleventh Circuit found that the “sanme
considerations could | ead a reasonable factfinder to concl ude
beyond a preponderance of the evidence that each individual
plaintiff relied on the defendants’ representations.” 382 F.3d
at 1259. The Klay court went on to further discuss these conmon
i ssues of reliance as foll ows:

The al l eged m srepresentations in the
i nstant case are sinply that the defendants
repeatedly clainmed they woul d reinburse the
plaintiffs for medically necessary services
they provide to the defendants’ insureds, and
sent the plaintiffs various [SOR] forns
claimng that they had actually paid the
plaintiffs the proper anmobunts. While the
[ SOR] forns nay rai se substanti al
i ndi vidual i zed i ssues of reliance, the

ant ecedent representations about the
def endant s’ rei nbursenent practices do not.
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It does not strain credulity to conclude that
each plaintiff, in entering into contracts
with the defendants, relied upon the

def endants’ representations and assuned they
woul d be paid the amobunts they were due. A
jury could quite reasonably infer that
guar ant ees concerni ng physici an pay—the very
consi deration upon which these agreenents are
based--go to the heart of these agreenents,
and that doctors based their assent upon
them ... Consequently, while each plaintiff
must prove reliance, he or she nay do so

t hrough common evi dence (that is, through
legitimate i nferences based on the nature of
the alleged m srepresentati ons at issue).

Klay, 382 F.3d at 1259.

Based upon the allegations contained in plaintiffs’
Amended Conpl ai nt and the evidence adduced at the hearing, we
conclude that plaintiffs will be able to prove classw de reliance
exactly in the manner set forth by the Eleventh Grcuit in Klay.
Thus, if reliance is an element of a RICO fraud action, plaintiff
wi |l not be subject to a unique defense that will “likely becone
a major focus of the litigation.” Beck, 457 F.3d at 301.

Accordingly, we find that plaintiffs have satisfied the
typicality requirenent because they have denonstrated a common

schenme or course of conduct that applies equally to the clains of

plaintiff and every prospective class nenber.®* Moreover, based

52 “I'n actions under the Racketeer Influenced and Corr upt

Organi zations Act (RICO, the typicality requirenment is satisfied if the
clains of the class representative and the class arise fromthe sanme schenme by
def endant to defraud the class nenbers.” See Myore’s Federal Practice

§ 23.24(8)(d).
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upon the record in this case, we conclude that plaintiffs have
denonstrated that their clains, even if factually different,®
arise out of the sane legal clains and theories as detailed in
their Amended Conplaint. Finally, we conclude that plaintiff
w Il not be subject to a unique defense apart fromthe proposed
cl ass.
Adequacy

Rule 23 requires that “the representative parties wll
fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.”
Fed. R Civ.P. 23(a)(4). This section seeks to protect the
interests of absent class nenbers. This is a two-part inquiry.
“First, the adequacy of representation inquiry ‘tests the
qualifications of the counsel to represent the class.’” Second,
it ‘serves to uncover conflicts of interest between nanmed parties

and the class they seek to represent.’” In re Prudential,

148 F. 3d at 312. (G tations omtted.) For the follow ng reasons,

we conclude that plaintiffs have satisfied both tests.

Plaintiffs' Counse

Plaintiffs are represented by four attorneys in this
matter. Specifically, |ead counsel Kenneth A Jacobsen, Esquire,

and co-counsel Louis C Bechtle, Esquire, Francis J. Farina,

53 “Bven rel atively pronounced factual differences will generally not

preclude a finding of typicality where there is a strong simlarity of |ega
theories.” Baby Neal, 43 F.3d at 58.
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Esquire, and Joseph A. O Keefe, Esquire, seek to represent
plaintiffs and the proposed class in this matter. Attorneys
Jacobsen, Farina and O Keefe have submtted their resunmes to the
court. The court is independently famliar wth Attorney
Becht | e.

Def endant s oppose the adequacy of class counsel because
of concerns about the conduct of counsel in this and other
l[itigation and the quality of the performance and filings in this
case. For the follow ng reasons, we conclude that Attorneys
Jacobsen, Bechtle , Farina and O Keefe and are nore than adequate
cl ass counsel .

As noted by our former colleague, then United States
District Judge, now Senior Third Circuit Court of Appeals Judge
Franklin S. Van Antwerpen, Attorney Jacobsen “has had extensive
experience dealing with multi-mllion dollar class actions
relating to consunmer protection, antitrust, environnental | aw,
and securities litigation.”>

Attorney Bechtle is the former Chief Judge of the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Pennsyl vani a and presi ded over nunerous class actions in his
nearly 30-year career on the bench. Since 2001, Attorney Bechtle
has been a partner at the law firmof Conrad, OBrien, Gellman &

Rohn in Phil adel phia, Pennsylvania. Fornerly, Attorney Bechtle

54 O Keefe, 214 F.R D. at 289
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served as the United States Attorney for the Eastern D strict of
Pennsylvania. He brings to plaintiffs’ |legal teama wealth of
know edge and di verse experience.

Attorney Farina, who is also an accountant, focuses his
practice on conplex consuner fraud actions and is experienced in
class action litigation. Attorney Farina has not previously
participated in presentations to this court. However, a review
of his qualifications reveals that he possesses experience and
training which will be hel pful to the class.

The court is famliar with Attorney O Keefe, who has
appeared before the undersigned in other federal actions. He has
prior class action litigation experience. |In other matters
before the undersigned, Attorney O Keefe has exhibited the
requi site | egal acunen, respect for the court and opposing
counsel and an appropriate zeal in advocating for his clients.

Throughout this litigation plaintiffs’ attorneys have
individually and col l ectively displayed their |egal skills. The
within nmotion for class certification was well-briefed, the
heari ng was conducted with exceptional professionalismand the
cl osing argunent by Attorney Jacobsen was conci se and persuasive.
Mor eover, throughout this litigation plaintiffs attorneys have
vigorously represented their clients and the prospective cl ass.

Al'l four class counsel bring different skills,

knowl edge and experience for the benefit of the class as a whol e.
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Plaintiffs counsel have exhibited a willingness and aptitude to
share the responsibilities in this hard-fought litigation. W
recogni ze that in their zeal to represent their clients, certain
counsel have becone passionate about this matter. |In weighing
the positive attributes of the individual counsel for plaintiffs,
agai nst the objections propounded by defendants based upon the
conduct of certain of plaintiffs’ counsel during this litigation,
we conclude that plaintiffs’ counsel will nore than adequately
represent the interests of the class.

Proposed Class Plaintiffs

Plaintiffs Natalie Gider, MD. and Kutztown Fam |y
Medi cine, P.C. seek to act as class representatives in this
matter. Specifically, plaintiffs assert that they are nore than
adequate class representatives because their interests are
aligned with the absent class nenbers and because they have
denonstrated their commtnent to this case throughout the five
years that it has been pending.

Def endants contend that there are a nunber of reasons
why plaintiffs are not adequate class representatives.
Initially, defendants aver that plaintiffs are inadequate cl ass
representatives because, as prinmary care physicians, plaintiffs
receive a great mpjority of their revenue through capitation
paynments and have no notivation to represent and naxi m ze the

al | eged danmages on behal f of the proposed class of physicians

SIxiii-



(specialists in particular) who are conpensated primarily on a
fee-for-service basis.

Next, defendants assert that plaintiffs have already
conprom sed the rights of the absent class nenbers by dropping
certain clains fromtheir notion for class certification, such as
RI CO clains prem sed on extortion in violation of the Hobbs Act,
bri bery, violations of the Travel Act and bonus cl ai ns> under
t he individual provider contracts with Keystone. Defendants al so
contend that plaintiffs are not adequate class representatives
because Dr. Joselito Quano and Dr. Jin Xu, other nedical
provi ders who previously worked closely with Dr. Gider as forner
associ ates of plaintiff Kutztown, have expressed concern that Dr.
Gider will not adequately protect their interests.

Finally, defendants contend that plaintiffs are not
adequate cl ass representati ves because they are not typical of
t he absent class nenbers. For the follow ng reasons, we disagree
wi th defendants and conclude that Natalie Gider, MD. and
Kut ztown Fam |y Medicine, P.C are adequate cl ass
representatives.

Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 23(a)(4) provides that

t he adequacy requirenent is satisfied if “the representative

55 Plaintiffs contend that defendants’ undisclosed policies affect

t he amount of performance-based bonuses that each provider receives from
Keystone. For instance, plaintiffs assert that provider conplaints to
Keystone about its billing practices and about particular paynments result in
decreased bonus paynments from Keyst one.
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parties wll fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
class.” In assessing plaintiffs as proposed cl ass represent-
atives we nust determne if plaintiffs are qualified and capabl e
of pursuing comon goals of the class w thout conflict.

In general, the burden of establishing class

requirenents rests with plaintiffs. Zlotnick v. Tie

Communi cations, Inc., 123 F.R D. 189, 190 (E D. Pa. 1988)

(Gles, J.). However, defendants bear the burden of proving

plaintiffs inadequacy. Stewart v. Associates Consuner Di scount

Conpany, 183 F.R. D. 189, 196-197 (E.D.Pa. 1998)(Joyner, J.). W
concl ude that defendants have not net their burden on this issue.

It is often the defendant, preferring
not to be successfully sued by anyone, who
supposedl y undertakes to assist the court in
determ ni ng whether a putative class should
be certified. Wen it cones, for instance,
to determ ning whether “the representative
parties will fairly and adequately protect
the interests of the class”...it is a bit
like permtting a fox, although with a pious
countenance, to take charge of the chicken
house.

Egal eston v. Chi cago Journeynan Pl unbers, 657 F.2d 890, 895

(7" Cir. 1981).

I n our discussion of the typicality requirenent, above,
we have al ready addressed defendants’ contention that plaintiffs
are not typical of the class of specialists they seek to

represent because plaintiffs are primary care physicians. W
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rejected that contention in part because we concl uded that
primary care physicians and specialists bill simlarly for fee-
for-service clainms and defendants process those clains simlarly.

Mor eover, defendants’ argunment that plaintiff Gider
w Il not adequately represent the fee-for-service providers
because she is a famly practice doctor who is conpensated
primarily on a capitation basis is not supported by the evidence
adduced during the class certification hearing. W found
credible Dr. Gider’s testinony that she is very involved in this
case. She did not suggest or indicate that she would pursue any
class claimnore or |less vigorously than any other. W find
defendants’ bald assertions to the contrary unpersuasi ve.

In the sanme vein, defendants assert that plaintiffs are
conprom sing the rights of putative class nenbers because
plaintiffs fail to seek certification of other clains, including
RI CO predicate clainms prem sed on extortion in violation of the
Hobbs Act, bribery, the Travel Act, or interference with an
enpl oyee benefit plan, clains based upon the conpl ex bonus system
and certain other clains alleged in the Anended Conplaint. W
di sagr ee.

In their amended notion for class certification,
plaintiffs allege that they “have focused these anended cl ass
papers specifically and narrowWy on the identical clains of

“bundling,’” ‘downcoding’ and capitation ‘shaving’ uniformy
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certified for class treatnent by nunerous ot her courts throughout
the country.”% These additional clains are not before the court
for class certification. Thus, we do not determne if these
additional clainms would be proper for class treatnent.

Plaintiffs’ narrowing of the issues in this fashion
reflects either a belief that those excluded clains are not
proper for class certification, or a tactical decision to
conserve relatively scarce resources and tinme by focusing on a
few stronger clains rather than diluting their efforts by
pursui ng additional |ess persuasive, marginal and doubt ful
claims. Under either interpretation, plaintiffs are
denonstrating sound stewardship over the interests of the class.
This is particularly so in light of defendants’ assertion that
none of plaintiffs’ clains are appropriate for class treatnent.

Next, defendants contend that plaintiffs are not
adequate cl ass representati ves because former associ ates of
Kut ztown Fam |y Medicine, Dr. Joselito Quano and Dr. Jin Xu, have
expressed concern that Dr. Gider will not adequately protect
their interests. W disagree.

Def endants reliance on the opinions of two forner,
apparently disgruntled, associates does not satisfy their burden
on the issue of plaintiffs’ adequacy as class representatives.

Moreover, we find credible and conpelling Dr. Gider’s testinony

56 Plaintiffs’ Amended Motion for Class Certification filed
December 27, 2005 at page 2.

-l xvii-



at the class certification hearing that she has support from
ot her physicians, including specialists.® Accordingly, we
rej ect defendants’ argunment on this issue concerning the
i nadequacy of plaintiffs as class representatives.
Finally, defendants contend that plaintiffs are not
adequate cl ass representati ves because they are not typical of
t he absent class nenbers. Pursuant to the Third Crcuit’s recent

deci sion in Beck, supra, we nust analyze whether plaintiffs wll

be subject to a unique defense that will “likely becone a major
focus of the litigation.” Beck, 457 F.3d at 301. As noted
above, we determ ned that there are no such uni que defenses.

In short, defendants’ clains fail to convince the court
that plaintiffs will be inadequate. The court had an opportunity
to hear and observe Dr. Gider at the class certification hearing
and found her to be intelligent, articulate and very interested
in pursuing this action both on her own behalf and on behal f of
the proposed class. Dr. Gider’s testinony persuaded the court
that she is eager to be a diligent class representative
notw thstanding the rigors of the litigation process. Moreover,
we concl ude that based upon the I ength and contenti ousness of the

l[itigation to this point, Dr. Gider has shown an ability and

57 Notes of Testinmobny of Natalie Grider, MD. as a witness at the
class certification hearing on March 8, 2006 at pages 36, 38-39. See also the
undat ed Statenent of the Pennsylvani a Acadeny of Family Physicians in Support
of Plaintiffs’ Mtion for Cass Certification, signed by John S. Jordan,
Executive Vice President. Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 99.
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desire to be present and persist for the |ong haul.

Accordi ngly, we conclude that both Dr. Gider and her
medi cal practice are adequate class representatives and that she
and her counsel will act in the best interests of the class as a
whol e.

Predom nance

In order to certify a class, the court nust find that
questions of |aw, fact or both predom nate over questions
affecting only individual nenbers of the proposed cl ass.
Fed. R Cv.P. 23(b)(3). In determ ning whether commbn questions
predom nate, the court’s inquiry is directed primarily toward the

issue of liability. Bogosian v. Gulf GOl Corporation,

561 F.2d 434, 456 (3d Cr. 1977).

However, “unlike commnality, predom nance al so
measures the nunber and relative inportance of these common
I ssues agai nst the remaining individual issues not susceptible to

cl asswi de proof.” Lester v. Percudani, 217 F.R D. at 351.°% As

noted in our Septenber 18, 2003 deci sion regardi ng defendants’
original notion to dismss, the clainms brought pursuant to Rl CO
for mail and wire fraud, conspiracy clains and clainms under the

Pennsyl vani a pronpt paynent statute all involve all eged om ssions

58 In footnote 8 of Lester, Judge Conner clarified the distinction

bet ween conmonal ity and predom nance by anal ogy as follows: “Commonality
nmeasures the sufficiency of the evidence, testing only whether a plaintiff has
properly alleged a single commn issue, while predom nance exam nes the wei ght
of the evidence, analyzing whether the nunber of common issues clearly

out wei ghs i ndi vidual issues.” W adopt this appropriate anal ogy here.
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fromthe provider contracts and conceal nent of information
concerning cl ai ms processing.

Mor eover, as indicated above, we have found ten common
factual issues, three comon | egal issues and ei ght conmon
potential defenses. Mdreover, there is the overriding issue
regardi ng the exi stence of a conspiracy.

Def endants argue that the Rule 23(b)(3) requirenent has
not been net in this case because individual issues wll
predom nate over issues common to the class. Specifically,
def endants assert that: (1) plaintiffs have not proven that any
class nmenber was injured; (2) plaintiffs’ allegations of
fraudul ent capitation paynents require nenber-by-nenber anal ysis;
(3) plaintiffs’ allegations of fraudul ent fee-for-service
paynments requi re nmenber-by-nenber analysis; (4) the use of
aut omat ed paynent processing does not change the predom nance of
i ndi vidual i zed i ssues; (5) plaintiffs” RICOclains require
i ndi vi dual i zed proof of causation by each provider; and
(6) individualized questions would predonm nate the trial of

plaintiffs’ contract and pronpt pay cl ains.

We di sagree wth defendants that categories (1) through
(5) above preclude a finding of predom nance. Specifically,
plaintiffs have cone forward with evidence that they have been

i njured; a nmenber-by-nmenber analysis is not required for the
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determ nation of /jability, but may |ikely be required for
determ nati on of damages, on either the fee-for service,
capitation and pronpt pay clains; and the autonated paynent
systemis at the heart of the clains brought by plaintiffs.
Mor eover, the issue of causation is an elenent in every case. |If
def endants were correct, no case could ever be certified for
cl ass treatnment because of the individualized nature of injury
causati on and determ nati on of damages.

Furthernore, we disagree that individual issues wll
predom nate on plaintiff’s pronpt pay claim (half of category 6).
| ndi vi dual analysis wll be necessary to determ ne damages if
plaintiffs succeed in proving liability, but those issues do not
predom nate over the general liability issues of whether
def endants inproperly delay paynent on “cl ean cl ains” by
suspending all clains even though they are submtted on a fully
conpl eted HCFA-1500 formin the manner that defendant Keystone’s
policies define as a clean claim

In plaintiffs’ RICO clains based upon nmail and wre
fraud, conspiracy and the pronpt pay claim the conmon factual
and | egal issues and conmon defenses set forth above all apply to
t hose clains and predom nate because a conmon schene is all eged
and applies equally to each nenber of the proposed cl ass.

However, notw thstandi ng our predom nance determ nation

on plaintiffs RICO and the pronpt paynent statute, clains, we
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agree with defendants that individualized questions wll
predom nate on plaintiffs’ claimfor breach of contract.

“The facts that defendants conspired to underpay
doctors, and that they programred their conputer systens to
frequently do so in a variety of ways, do nothing to establish
that any particul ar doctor was underpaid on any particul ar
occasion. Klay, 382 F.3d at 1264.

Furthernore, we agree with, and adopt the anal ysis of,
the Eleventh Grcuit in Klay regarding certification of
plaintiffs’ breach of contract clains:®

The evi dence that each doctor nust introduce
to make out each breach claimis essentially
t he same whether or not a general conspiracy
or policy of breaching existed. For exanple,
regardl ess of whether facts about the
conspiracy or conputer progranms are proven
each doctor, for each all eged breach of
contract (that is, each alleged

under paynment), mnust prove the services he
provi ded, the request for reinbursenent he
submtted, the anobunt he was entitled, the
anount he actually received, and the
insufficiency of the HMO s reasons for
denying full paynent. There are no conmon

i ssues of fact that relieve each plaintiff of

a substantial portion of this individual
evi dentiary burden.
Klay, 382 F.3d at 1264.
Mor eover, al though Keystone all egedly breached its

contracts with both primary care physician providers and

See Klay, 382 F.3d 1264-1267.
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specialists in the sane general way, it did so through a variety
of nmeans that are not subject to generalized proof by Dr. Gider
or her medical group. Specifically, even though Dr. Gider can
produce evi dence of breach regarding certain procedures, she
cannot produce evi dence on nost procedures perfornmed by
specialists that would each constitute a separate breach of
contract.

Furthernore, we would need to create numnerous
subcl asses to determ ne each allegedly inproper group of contract
breaches. 1In this context, individual issues will certainly
predom nate over any comon issues. Thus, certification of
plaintiffs’ breach of contract clains are not appropriate.

Accordingly, we conclude that common issues of fact and
| aw as well as common defenses outlined above will predom nate
over individual questions on plaintiffs’ RI CO cl ai ns based on
mail and wire fraud, conspiracy clains, and plaintiffs’ claim
under the Pennsyl vania pronpt paynment statute. By contrast, we
further conclude that individual issues will predom nate over

comon issues on plaintiffs’ breach of contract claimand that

certification of the contract claimfor class treatnent woul d be
I nmpr oper.
Superiority

The superiority requirenent under Rule 23(b)(3)
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requires the court to balance in terns of fairness and efficiency
the nerits of a class action against other alternative nethods of

adjudicating plaintiffs’ clains. 1n re Prudential, 148 F. 3d

at 316. Specifically, Rule 23(b)(3) sets forth four, non-
exhaustive el enments the court shoul d consi der:

The matters pertinent to the findings

i nclude: (A) the interest of nenbers of the
class in individually controlling the
prosecution or defense of separate actions;
(B) the extent and nature of any litigation
concerning the controversy al ready comrenced
by or against nenbers of the class; (C the
desirability or undesirability of
concentrating the litigation of the clains in
the particular forum (D) the difficulties
likely to be encountered in the managenent of
a class action.

Fed.R Civ.P. 23(b)(3).

A class action is clearly the superior nethod of
adj udi cating the dispute between the parties because of the
central issue of whether defendants engaged in a conspiracy and

the all eged “common course of fraudul ent conduct to automatically

del ay, deny and downcode paynents to plaintiffs.” 1n re: Managed

Care Litigation, 209 F.R D. 678, 697 (S.D. Fla. 2002).

Separate Acti ons

Based upon the difficulties and disputes that have
arisen during the discovery process, it is unlikely that any

potential nmenber of the plaintiff class would seek to
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individually bring suit against defendants on the clains invol ved
here. It is not only the cost of litigation, but the tinme and
effort needed to individually prosecute simlar clains against
def endants, that make separate actions inplausible, if not

i npossi ble, for any prospective class nenbers.

O her Litigation

We are aware of litigation that has been brought
agai nst other insurers in the state and federal courts throughout
t he Commonweal t h of Pennsyl vania and el sewhere, including the
multi-district litigation case in Florida.® However, we are not
aware of any other individual suits brought against these
defendants in either the state or federal courts of
Pennsyl vani a. ®*

Desirability of Forum

It is considerably desirable to concentrate this

[itigation in this district because all of the parties are

| ocated near to this court, and the proposed class of physicians
are all located in Pennsyl vani a.

Case Managenent

Finally, while every class action presents its own

60 Klay v. Humana, supra, In re: Managed Care Litigation, supra;

Pennsyl vani a Ot hopedic Society v. |Independence Blue Cross, Decenber Term
2000, No. 3482 (Consolidated), Control Nos. 081034, 080860 (C.C.P. Phila.).

61 Ve note that defendant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.
operates within the confines of the geographical area of Central Pennsylvani a.
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uni que problens of manageability, and this case has certainly
posed numnerous problens for the court and the litigants in
getting to the class certification stage, we are confident that
there is nothing in this case which presents an extraordinary
probl em t hat cannot be handled within the paranmeters of the
systemalready in place. As noted, we have appointed a Speci al
Di scovery Master in this action, and she has done an adm rable
j ob of resolving many of the underlying di sputes which plagued
this case prior to her appointnent.

Moreover, while there are certainly remaining issues
whi ch may be tedious and cunbersone, there are no insurnountable
difficulties wiwth managing this case as a class action which
woul d outwei gh the ram fications of thousands of potential suits
by the individual physicians involved here.

Accordi ngly, we conclude that a class action is the
superior nethod of adjudicating the clains involved in this case.
Danmages

The issue of individual danages is always a factor in a
cl ass action. However, the necessity for individual damage
cal cul ati ons does not prevent certification when common liability

i ssues predom nate over individual issues and when the court or

the parties can cal cul ate individual danmages. See Newton v.

Merrill Lynch, 259 F.3d 154, 187-189 (3d Cr. 2001). In this

case, plaintiffs have denonstrated that damages can be proven on
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a classwi de basis and that they can be conputed in a nechanica
and efficient manner. %

Accordi ngly, we conclude that the individual
cal cul ati on of damages does not, and should not, preclude class
certification in this matter.

CONCLUSI ON

For all the foregoing reasons, we grant in part and
deny in part Plaintiffs’ Amended Mdtion for Cass Certification.
We certify for class treatnent against all defendants on Count
of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint alleging conspiracy to conmt
RI CO viol ations pursuant to 18 U S.C. 8§ 1962(d) in violation of
18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962(c); Count |1l of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl ai nt
alleging violation of RICO under 18 U. S.C. 8 1962(c); and Count
|V of plaintiffs’ Amended Conplaint alleging violation of the
pronpt - paynment provision of Pennsylvania’'s Quality Health Care
Accountability and Protection Act. W deny class certification
on Count V of plaintiffs’ Amended Conpl aint alleging breach of

contract agai nst defendant Keystone Health Plan Central, Inc.

62 During the class hearing, plaintiffs’ counsel Joseph O Keefe

Esquire, demponstrated that the information regarding clains submtted by

providers can be sorted and classified in nunerous ways, including by the
codes submitted, the reasons for denial given by defendant Keystone, the

amount s pai d and numerous ot her categories of informtion.

Mor eover, defendants’ expert Professor Steven N. Wggins testified
that he received information on clainms from defendant H ghmark and was able to
synthesi ze the informati on and, generate a report including numerous graphs
and pie charts in only a few weeks’ tine.
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